Evidence-Based Resources for OJJDP Program Applicants

J. Robert Flores, Administrator Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention

The Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention is a component of the Office of Justice Programs, which also includes the Bureau of Justice Assistance, the Bureau of Justice Statistics, the National Institute of Justice, and the Office for Victims of Crime.

Table of Contents

Organizations and Web Sites
General Publications
Publications by Specific Topical Area
Community: Afterschool/Recreation
Community: Community and Problem-Oriented Policing
Community: Other Community Strategies
Family: Family Strengthening and Family Therapy
Family: Parent Training
Individual: Leadership and Youth Development
Individual: Mentoring
Individual: Prevention Services
Individual: Vocational/Job Training
Peer: Gang Prevention
School: Academic Skills Enhancement
School: Behavior Management
School: Prevention Curricula
School: School/Classroom Environment
School: Truancy Prevention 52

Are you applying for one of OJJDP's congressionally earmarked programs? The following resources will help you select evidence-based practices for your project (as suggested in the Project Design/Strategy section of the Application Guide). OJJDP encourages applicants to use this list to adopt research-based programs to address their particular problems.

Organizations and Web Sites

Blueprints for Violence Prevention Center for the Study and Prevention of Violence University of Colorado www.colorado.edu/cspv/blueprints/

The Center for the Study and Prevention of Violence at the University of Colorado has launched a national violence prevention initiative to identify effective youth violence prevention programs. The project, Blueprints for Violence Prevention, identified 11 prevention and intervention programs that meet a strict scientific standard of program effectiveness. These model programs, called Blueprints, have been effective in reducing adolescent violent crime, aggression, delinquency, and substance abuse. The programs include Big Brothers Big Sisters of America; Functional Family Therapy; Life Skills Training; Multisystemic Therapy; Multidimensional Treatment Foster Care; Bullying Prevention Program; and The Incredible Years: Parent, Teacher, and Child Training Series.

Campbell Collaboration www.campbellcollaboration.org/

The Campbell Collaboration is a nonprofit organization that prepares, maintains, and disseminates systematic reviews of studies of interventions. It acquires and promotes access to information about trials of interventions and builds summaries and electronic brochures of reviews and reports of trials for policymakers, practitioners, researchers, and the public. The Campbell Collaboration has a database called C2–SPECTR (http://geb9101.gse.upenn.edu/), which is a registry of randomized controlled evaluations of various interventions, including interventions designed to curb juvenile delinquency.

Juvenile Justice Evaluation Center (JJEC) Justice Research and Statistics Association www.jrsa.org/jjec

The Justice Research and Statistics Association is working with the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention (OJJDP) to improve the evaluation of juvenile justice programs in the states through the Juvenile Justice Evaluation Center project. The goal is to enhance the capacity of states and local program personnel to conduct and/or participate in the evaluation of juvenile justice programs or juvenile justice systems. JJEC Online is a tool designed to assist juvenile justice practitioners, policymakers, and state agency administrators with their assessment

and evaluation of programs and initiatives. It includes several sections, including JJEC Information, State Information, Juvenile Justice Evaluation Program Areas, and Evaluation Resources.

National Center for Mental Health and Juvenile Justice Evidence Based Practices www.ncmhjj.com/EBP/

The National Center for Mental Health and Juvenile Justice was established to assist the field in identifying and responding to the needs of youth with mental health problems in the juvenile justice system. One of the most important advances is the development of demonstrated effective interventions for treating youth. These demonstrated interventions are commonly referred to as evidence-based practices—interventions that involve standardized treatment and that have been shown through controlled research to result in improved outcomes across multiple research groups. These advances have occurred in a number of areas that relate to the Center's target population, including mental health, substance abuse, and juvenile justice prevention and treatment of youth.

Promising Practices Network on Children, Families and Communities The RAND Corporation www.promisingpractices.net/

The Promising Practices Network Web site highlights programs and practices that credible research indicates are effective in improving outcomes for children, youth, and families. The site provides useful information to decisionmakers, practitioners, and program funders who must choose among many possibilities for improving results for children, youth, and families. The information offered is organized around three major areas: Proven and Promising Programs, Research in Brief, and Strengthening Service Delivery.

Strengthening America's Families
Effective Family Programs for Prevention of Delinquency
University of Utah, Department of Health Promotion and Education
www.strengtheningfamilies.org/

OJJDP, in collaboration with the Center for Substance Abuse Prevention, has selected "best practice" family strengthening programs. The programs are divided into the following categories based on the degree, quality, and outcomes of research associated with them: Exemplary I (the program has evaluation of the highest quality, an experimental design with a randomized sample, and replication by an independent investigator other than the program developer); Exemplary II (the program has evaluation of the highest quality and an experimental design with a randomized sample); Model (the program has research of either an experimental or quasi-experimental design with few or no replications), and Promising (the program has limited research and/or employs nonexperimental designs).

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) Model Programs U.S. Department of Health and Human Services http://modelprograms.samhsa.gov/template.cfm?page=default

SAMHSA model programs have been tested in communities, schools, social services organizations, and workplaces across the United States and have been proven effective in preventing or reducing substance abuse and other related high-risk behaviors. Model programs have been reviewed by SAMHSA's National Registry of Effective Programs (NREP) according to rigorous standards of research. Some examples of model programs are Multisystemic Therapy, Brief Strategic Family Therapy, and Family Effectiveness Training.

General Publications

Benson, P. 1997. All Kids Are Our Kids: What Communities Must Do To Raise Caring and Responsible Children and Adolescents. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Bernard, B. 1991. Fostering Resiliency in Kids: Protective Factors in the Family, School, and Community. Portland, OR: Northwest Regional Educational Laboratory.

Bry, B.H., Catalano, R.F., Kumpfer, K.L., Lochman, J.E., and Szapocznik, J. 1998. Scientific findings from family prevention intervention research. In *Family-Focused Prevention of Drug Abuse: Research and Interventions*, NIDA Research Monograph, edited by R. Ashery, E. Robertson, and K.L. Kumpfer. Rockville, MD: National Institute on Drug Abuse Prevention.

Bry, B.H., McKeon, P., and Pandina, R. 1982. Extent of drug use as a function of number of risk factors. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology* 91:273–279.

Center for Substance Abuse Prevention. 1993. *Signs of Effectiveness in Preventing Alcohol and Other Drug Problems*. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

Center for Substance Abuse Prevention. 2001. 2000 Exemplary Substance Abuse Programs. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Center for Substance Abuse Prevention. www.health.org/newsroom/exempawards/.

Columbia University, Division of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry. 2003. *Columbia University Guidelines for Child and Adolescent Mental Health Referral*, 2d ed. New York, NY: Columbia University. www.promotementalhealth.org/downloads/Guidelines.pdf.

Derzon, J.H., Wilson, S.J., and Cunningham, C.A. 1999. *The Effectiveness of School-Based Interventions for Preventing and Reducing Violence*. Nashville, TN: Vanderbilt Institute for Public Policy Studies, Center for Evaluation Research and Methodology.

DuBois, D.L., Holloway, B.E., Valentine, J.C., and Cooper, H. 2002. Effectiveness of mentoring programs for youth: A meta-analytic review. *American Journal of Community Psychology* 30(2): 157–197.

Dunst, C.J., and Trivette, C.M. 1994. Methodological considerations and strategies for studying the long-term follow-up of early intervention. In *Developmental Follow-up: Concepts, Domains and Methods*, edited by S. Friedman and H.C. Haywood. San Diego, CA: Academic Press, pp. 277–313.

Farrington, D.P. 2003. Methodological quality standards for evaluation research. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 587:49–68.

Garmezy, N. 1985. Effects of residential treatment on adjudicated delinquents: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency* 22:287–308.

Hamburg, M.A. 1998. Youth violence is a public health concern. In *Violence in American Schools: A New Perspective*, edited by D.S. Elliott, B.A. Hamburg, and K.R. Williams. Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press.

Hawkins, J.D., and Catalano, R.F. 1992. *Communities That Care*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Hawkins, J.D., Lishner, D.M., Jenson, J.M., and Catalano, R.F. 1987. Delinquents and drugs: What the evidence suggests about prevention and treatment programming. In *Youth at High Risk for Substance Abuse*, edited by B.S. Brown and A.R. Mills. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Publication No. ADM 87–1537. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office, pp. 82–132.

Howell, J.C., ed. 1995. *Guide for Implementing the Comprehensive Strategy for Serious, Violent, and Chronic Juvenile Offenders.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Jessor, R., Van Den Bos, J., Vanderryn, J., Costa, F., and Turbin, M. 1995. Protective factors in adolescent problem behavior: Moderator effects and developmental change. *Developmental Psychology* 31(6):923–933.

Kirby, L.D., and Fraser, M.W. 1997. Risk and resilience in childhood. In *Risk and Resilience in Childhood*, edited by M.W. Fraser. Washington, DC: National Association of Social Workers.

Kirigin, K.A., Braukmann, C.J., Atwater, J.D., and Wolf, M.M. 1982. An evaluation of teaching-family (Achievement Place) group homes for juvenile offenders. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis* 15:1–16.

Klein, N.C., Alexander, J.F., and Parsons, B.V. 1977. Impact of family systems intervention on recidivism and sibling delinquency: A model of primary prevention and program evaluation. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 45:469–474.

Kumpfer, K.L. 1993. Strengthening America's Families: Promising Parenting Strategies for Delinquency Prevention, User's Guide. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Kumpfer, K.L. 1997. What Works in the Prevention of Drug Abuse: Individual, School and Family Approaches. Secretary's Youth Substance Abuse Prevention Initiative: Resource Paper 69–105. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Center for Substance Abuse Prevention.

Lipsey, M.W. 1992. Juvenile delinquency treatment: A meta-analytic inquiry into the variability of effects. In *Meta-analyses for explanation*, edited by T.D. Cook, H. Cooper, D.S. Cordray, H. Hartmann, L.V. Hedges, R.J. Light, T.A. Louis, and F. Mosteller. New York, NY: Russell Sage Publications, Inc., pp. 83–127.

McCord, J. 2003. Cures that harm: Unanticipated outcomes of crime prevention programs. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 587:16–30.

Mitchell, A., Weiss, H., and Schultz, T. 1993. Evaluating Education Reform: Early Childhood Education. A Review of Research on Early Education, Family Support and Parent Education, and Collaboration. Alexandria, VA: National Association of State Boards of Education.

National Institute on Drug Abuse. 2003. *Preventing Drug Use Among Children and Adolescents: A Research-Based Guide for Parents, Educators, and Community Leaders*, 2d ed. Bethesda, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, National Institute on Drug Abuse. http://www.nida.nih.gov/Prevention/Prevopen.html.

Newcomb, M.D. 1995. Identifying high-risk youth: Prevalence and patterns of adolescent drug use. In *Adolescent Drug Use: Clinical Assessment and Therapeutic Intervention*, edited by E. Rahdert, D. Czechowicz, and I. Amsel. Rockville, MD: National Institute on Drug Abuse.

Petrosino, A. 2003. Standards for evidence and evidence for standards: The case of school-based drug prevention. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 587:180–207.

Pollard, J., Hawkins, J.D., and Arthur, M. 1999. Risk and protection: Are both necessary to understand diverse behavioral outcomes in adolescence? *Social Work Research* 23(3):145–158.

Rende, R., and Plomin, R. 1993. Families at risk for psychopathology: Who becomes affected and why? *Development and Psychopathology* 5:529–540.

Rutter, M. 1985. Resilience in the face of adversity: Protective factors and resistance to psychiatric disorder. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 147:598–611.

Rutter, M. 1987. Psychosocial resilience and protective mechanisms. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry* 57:316–331.

Rutter, M. 1990. Psychosocial resilience and protective mechanisms. In *Risk and Protective Factors in the Development of Psychopathology*, edited by J. Rolf, A.S. Matsen, D. Cicchetti, N.H. Nuechterlein, and S. Weintraub. Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press.

Sherman, L.W., Gottfredson, D., MacKenzie, D., Eck, J., Reuter, P., and Bushway, S., eds. 1997. *Preventing Crime: What Works, What Doesn't, What's Promising*. A Report to the United States Congress. College Park, MD: University of Maryland, Department of Criminology and Criminal Justice. http://www.ncjrs.org/works/.

Small, S.A., and Luster, T. 1994. Adolescent sexual activity: An ecological risk-factor approach. *Journal of Marriage and the Family* 56:181–192.

Stattin, H., and Magnusson, D. 1996. Antisocial development: A holistic approach. *Development and Psychopathology* 8:617–645.

Sterling, S., Cowen, E.L., Weissberg, R., Lotyczewske, B.S., and Boike, M. 1985. Recent stressful life events and young children's school adjustment. *American Journal of Community Psychology* 13(1):87–98.

Thornberry, T.P., Huizinga, D., and Loeber, R. 1995. The prevention of serious delinquency and violence: Implications from the program of research on the causes and correlates of delinquency. In *Sourcebook on Serious, Violent, and Chronic Juvenile Offenders*, edited by J.C. Howell, B. Krisberg, J.D. Hawkins, and J.J. Wilson. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Tobler, N.S., and Stratton, H.H. 1997. Effectiveness of school-based prevention programs: A meta-analysis of the research. *Journal of Primary Prevention* 18(1):71–128.

Tolan, P.H., and Guerra, N.G. 1994. What works in reducing adolescent violence: An empirical review of the field. Commissioned monograph. Boulder, CO: University of Colorado, Center for the Study and Prevention of Violence.

U.S. Department of Education, Safe, Disciplined, and Drug-Free Schools Expert Panel. 2002. *Exemplary and Promising Safe, Disciplined, and Drug-Free Schools Programs 2001*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education. www.ed.gov/admins/lead/safety/exemplary01/exemplary01.pdf.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 2001. *Youth Violence: A Report of the Surgeon General*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. www.surgeongeneral.gov/library/youthviolence/toc.html.

Washington State Institute for Public Policy. 2001. *The Comparative Costs and Benefits of Programs To Reduce Crime*. Olympia, WA: Washington State Institute for Public Policy. www.wsipp.wa.gov/crime/pdf/costbenefit.pdf.

Werner, E.E. 1989. Vulnerability and resistance: A longitudinal perspective. In *Children at Risk: Assessment, Longitudinal Research and Intervention,* edited by M. Brambring, F. Losel, and H. Skowronek. New York, NY: Aldine de Gruyter, pp. 158–172.

Werner, E.E. 1994. Overcoming the odds. *Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics* 15:131–136.

Publications by Specific Topical Area

Community: Afterschool/Recreation

Anderson, D.J. 1998. "If You Let Me Play": The Effects of Participation in High School Athletics on Students' Behavior and Economic Success. Ann Arbor, MI: UMI Dissertation Services.

Braddock, H.H. II. 1981. Race, athletics and educational attainment. *Youth and Society* 12:335–350.

Eccles, J., and Baber, B. 1999. Student council, volunteering, basketball or marching band: What kind of extracurricular involvement matters? *Journal of Adolescent Research* 14(1):10–43.

Ewing, B. 1995. High school athletics and the wages of black males. *The Review of Black Political Economy* 24(1):65–78.

Fashola, O.S. 1999. *Review of Extended Day and Afterschool Programs and Their Effectiveness*. Baltimore, MD: Center for the Research on the Education of Students Placed at Risk.

Fox, J.A., and Newman, S.A. 1997. Afterschool Crime or Afterschool Programs: Tuning in the Prime Time for Violent Juvenile Crime and Implications for National Policy. Washington, DC: Fight Crime: Invest in Kids.

General Accounting Office, Health, Education, and Human Services Division. 1997. *Welfare Reform and Child Care Supply*. Washington, DC: General Accounting Office.

Gerber, S. 1996. Extracurricular activities and academic achievement. *Journal of Research and Development in Education* 30(1):42–50.

Gottfredson, D., Gottfredson, G., and Weisman, S. The timing of delinquent behavior and its implications for afterschool programs. *Criminology and Public Policy* 1(1):61–86.

Hahn, A., Leavitt, T., and Aaron, P. 1994. *Evaluation of Quantum Opportunities Program: Did the Program Work?* Waltham, MA: Brandeis University, Heller Graduate School, Center for Human Resources.

Holland, A., and Andre, T. 1987. Participation in extracurricular activities in secondary school: What is known, what needs to be known. *Review of Educational Research* 57:437–466.

Huang, D., Gribbons, B., Kim, K.S., Lee, C., and Baker, E.L. 2000. A Decade of Results: The Impact of the LA's BEST Afterschool Enrichment Program on Subsequent Student Achievement and Performance. Los Angeles, CA: UCLA Center for the Study of Evaluation.

Jones, M.B., and Offord, D.R. 1989. Reduction of antisocial behavior in poor children by nonschool skill-development. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 30(5):737–750.

Long, J., and Caudill, S. 1991. The impact of participation in intercollegiate athletics on income and graduation. *Review of Economics and Statistics* 73(3):525–531.

Mahoney, J. 1997. From companions to convictions: Peer groups, school engagement, and development of criminality. Paper presented at the biennial meeting of the Society for Research on Child Development, Washington, DC.

Mahoney, J., and Cairns, R. 1997. Do extracurricular activities protect against early school dropout? *Developmental Psychology* 33:241–253.

McNeal, R. 1995. Extracurricular activities and high school dropouts. *Sociology of Education* 68:62–81.

Melnick, M., Sabo, D., and Vanfossen, B. 1992. Educational effects of interscholastic athletic participation on African-American and Hispanic youth. *Adolescence* 27(Summer):295–308.

Otto, L.B. 1982. Extracurricular activities. In *Improving Educational Standards and Productivity*, edited by H.J. Walberg. Berkeley, CA: McCuthan.

Otto, L.B., and Alvin, D.F. 1977. Athletics, aspirations and attainments. *Sociology of Education* 42:102–113.

Picou, J.S., and Curry, E.W. 1974. Residence and athletic participation—Education aspiration hypothesis. *Social Science Quarterly* 55:768–776.

Schinke, S.P., Cole, K.C., and Poulin, S.R. 2000. Enhancing the educational achievement of at-risk youth. *Prevention Science* 1(1):51–60.

Silliker, S., and Quirk, J. 1997. The effect of extracurricular activity participation on academic performance of male and female high school students. *Adolescence* 30:839–861.

Snyder, E.E., and Spreitzer, E. 1977. Participation in sport as related to educational expectations among high school girls. *Research Quarterly* 47:804–809.

Snyder, H., and Sickmund, M. 1999. *Violence After School*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

U.S. Department of Justice. 2000. *Working for Children and Families: Safe and Smart Afterschool Programs*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Youniss, J., Yates, M., and Su, Y. 1997. Social integration: Community service and marijuana use in high school seniors. *Journal of Adolescent Research* 12:245–262.

Community: Community and Problem-Oriented Policing

Abrahamse, A., Ebener, P.A., Greenwood, P.W., Fitzgerald, N., and Kosin, T.E. 1991. An experimental evaluation of the Phoenix repeat offender program. *Justice Quarterly* 8(2):141–168.

Bowers, W., and Hirsch, J. 1987. The impact of foot patrol staffing on crime and disorder in Boston: An unmet promise. *American Sociological Review* 47:114–129.

Braga, A., Kennedy, D., Waring, E., and Piehl, A.M. 2001. Problem-oriented policing, deterrence, and youth violence: An evaluation of Boston's Operation Ceasefire. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency* 28(3):195–225.

Eck, J.E., and Spelman, W. 1987. *Problem Solving: Problem-Oriented Policing in Newport News*. Washington, DC: Police Executive Research Forum.

Esbensen, F. 1987. Foot patrols: Of what values? *American Journal of Police* 6:45–65.

Goldstein, H. 1979. Improving policing: A problem-oriented approach. *Crime and Delinquency* 25:236–258.

Homel, R. 1990. Random breath testing and random stopping programs in Australia. In *Drinking and Driving: Advances in Research and Prevention*, edited by R.J. Wilson and R. Mann. New York, NY: Guilford Press.

Huizinga, D., and Esbensen, F. 1992. An arresting view of juvenile justice. *School Safety* 15:15–17.

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority. 1999. *Community Policing in Chicago: An Evaluation*. Chicago, IL: State of Illinois.

Kelling, G.L. 1999. *Broken Windows and Police Discretion*. Research Report. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, National Institute of Justice.

Kelling, G.L., and Coles, C.M. 1996. Fixing Broken Windows. New York, NY: Free Press.

Kelling, G.L., Pate, A.M., Dieckman, D., and Brown, C. 1974. *The Kansas City Preventive Patrol Experiment: Technical Report*. Washington, DC: Police Foundation.

Kennedy, D.M., Piehl, A.M., and Braga, A.A. 1996. *Youth Gun Violence in Boston: Gun Markets, Serious Youth Offenders, and a Use Reduction Strategy*. Research in Brief. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, National Institute of Justice.

Klein, M. 1986. 1986 labeling theory and delinquency policy: An empirical test. *Criminal Justice and Behavior* 13:47–79.

Klockars, C. 1983. Thinking About Police. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.

Koper, C. 1992. The deterrent effects of police patrol presence upon criminal and disorderly behavior hot spots of crime. Unpublished master's thesis. College Park, MD: University of Maryland, Institute of Criminal Justice and Criminology.

Macdonald, J. 2002. The effectiveness of community policing in reducing urban violence. *Crime and Delinquency* 48(4):592–618.

Martin, S., and Sherman, S. 1986. Selective apprehension: A police strategy for repeat offenders. *Criminology* 24:55–72.

Marvell, T.B., and Moody, C.E. 1996. Specification problems, police levels and crime rates. *Criminology* 34:609–646.

Mathews, R. 1993. *Kerb-Crawling, Prostitution and Multi-Agency Policing*. Police Research Group. Crime Prevention Unit Series Paper 43. London, England: Home Office.

McGarrell, E., Chermak, S., and Weiss, A. 2002. *Reducing Gun Violence: Evaluation of the Indianapolis Police Department's Directed Patrol Project.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, National Institute of Justice.

Pate, A. 1986. Experimenting with foot patrol: The Newark experience. In *Community Crime Prevention: Does It Work?* edited by D.P. Rosenbaum. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Pate, A., and Annan, S. 1989. *Baltimore Community Policing Experiment: Summary Report.* Washington, DC: Police Foundation.

Putnam, S.L., Rockett, I.R.H., and Campbell, M.K. 1993. Methodological issues in community-based alcohol-related injury prevention projects: Attribution of program effects. In *Experiences With Community Action Projects: New Research in the Prevention of Alcohol and Other Drug Problems*, edited by T.K. Greenfield and R. Zimmerman. CSAP Prevention Monograph 14. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Center for Substance Abuse Prevention, pp. 32–42.

Sherman, L. 1995. The police. In *Crime*, edited by J.Q. Wilson and J. Petersilia. San Francisco, CA: ICS Press.

Sherman, L., Shaw, J.W., and Rogan, D.P. 1995. *The Kansas City Gun Experiment*. Research in Brief. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, National Institute of Justice.

Sherman, L., and Weisbrud, D.A. 1992. Does police patrol prevent crime? The Minneapolis hot spots experiment. Paper presented at the International Society on Criminology Conference on Urban Crime Prevention, Tokyo, Japan.

Sherman, L.W., Gottfredson, D., MacKenzie, D., Eck, J., Reuter, P., and Bushway, S., eds. 1997. *Preventing Crime: What Works, What Doesn't, What's Promising*. A Report to the United States Congress. College Park, MD: University of Maryland, Department of Criminology and Criminal Justice.

Skogan, W.G. 1994. The impact of community policing on neighborhood residents: A cross site analysis. In *Community Crime Prevention: Does It Work?* edited by D.P. Rosenbaum. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Skogan, W.G. 1996. *Evaluating Problem Solving Policing: The Chicago Experience*. Evanston, IL: Northwestern University, Institute for Policy Research.

Spelman, W., and Brown, D.K. 1981. *Calling the Police: A Replication of the Citizen Reporting Component of the Kansas City Response Time Analysis*. Washington, DC: Police Executive Research Forum.

Ucida, C.D., Forst, B., and Annan, S. 1992. *Modern Policing and the Control of Illegal Drugs: Testing New Strategies in Two American Cities*. Research Report. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, National Institute of Justice.

Wilson, J.Q., and Kelling, G.L. 1982. Broken windows: The police and neighborhood safety. *The Atlantic Monthly* (March):29–38.

Community: Other Community Strategies

American Public Health Association. 2000. *Handguns*. Fact Sheet. Retrieved October 20, 2000, from the Web: www.apha.org/legislative/factsheets/Hangun-fs.htm.

Arrendondo, S., Aultman-Buttridge, T., Johnson, T.P., Williams, K.R., Ninneman, L., and Torp, K. 1999. *Preventing Youth Handgun Violence: A National Study With Trends and Patterns for the State of Colorado*. Boulder, CO: Center for the Study and Prevention of Violence.

Associated Press. August 9, 2000. Gun Control Bill Signed Into Law. Retrieved August 10, 2000, from the Web: www.jointogether.org.

Black, G.S. 1989. *Changing Attitudes Toward Drug Use.* Rochester, NY: Gordon S. Black Corporation.

Brewer, D.D., Hawkins, J.D., Catalano, R.F., and Neckerman, H. 1995. Preventing serious, violent and chronic juvenile offending: A review of evaluations of selected strategies in childhood, adolescence, and the community. In *A Sourcebook: Serious, Violent, and Chronic Juvenile Offenders*, edited by J.C. Howell, B. Krisberg, J.D. Hawkins, and J.J. Wilson. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Bureau of Justice Assistance. 1995. *National Citizens' Crime Prevention Campaign*. Fact Sheet. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Bureau of Justice Assistance.

Bureau of Justice Assistance. 1996. *Bureau of Justice Assistance Annual Report—Fiscal Year 1995*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Bureau of Justice Assistance.

Catalano, R.F., Loeber, R., and McKinney, K.C. 1999. *School and Community Interventions To Prevent Serious and Violent Offending*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Center for the Study and Prevention of Violence. *The Youth Violence Problem*. CSPV Fact Sheet No. 16. Retrieved July 12, 2000, from the Web: www.colorado.edu/cspv/research/violenceschools.html.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 1997. Rates of homicide, suicide, and firearm-related death among children—26 industrialized countries. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report* 46(5):101–105.

Coordinating Council on Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. 1996. Chapter 8: Implement an aggressive outreach campaign on effective strategies to combat juvenile violence. In *Combating Violence and Delinquency: The National Juvenile Justice Action Plan.* Report. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. Retrieved August 30, 2000, from the Web: www.ojjdp.ncjrs.org/action/sec8.htm.

Davis, R.C., and Lurigio, A.J. 1996. *Fighting Back: Neighborhood Antidrug Strategies*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Davis, R.C., Smith, B.A., Lurigio, A.J., and Skogan, W.G. 1991. *Community Responses to Crack: Grassroots Antidrug Programs*. Report to the National Institute of Justice. New York, NY: New York City Victim Services Agency.

Durkheim, É. 1903. Attachment to social groups. In *Classics of Criminology*, 2d ed, edited by J.E. Jacoby. Prospect Heights. IL: Waveland Press, Inc.

East Bay Public Safety Corridor Partnership. n.d. *Pro-Community Gun Laws: A Practical Guide*. Oakland, CA: East Bay Public Safety Corridor Partnership.

Educational Resources Information Center. 2000. *The ERIC Review—School Safety: A Collaborative Effort* 7(1). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.

Flynn, B.S., Worden, J.K., Secker-Walker, R.H., Badger, G.J., and Geller, B.M. 1995. Cigarette smoking prevention effects of mass media and school interventions targeted to gender and age groups. *Journal of Health Education* 26:S–45 to S–51.

Flynn, B.S., Worden, J.K., Secker-Walker, R.H., Badger, G.J., Geller, B.M., and Costanza, M.C. 1992. Prevention of cigarette smoking through mass media intervention and school programs. *American Journal of Public Health* 82(6):827–834.

Goodstadt, M.S. 1989. Substance abuse curricula versus school drug policies. *Journal of School Health* 59:249–250.

Grossman, M., Coate, D., and Arluck, G.M. 1987. *Price Sensitivity of Alcoholic Beverages in the United States: Youth Alcohol Consumption.* Advances in Substance Abuse: Behavioral and Biological Research, Supplement 1. Control Issues in Alcohol Abuse Prevention: Strategies for State and Communities. Greenwick, CT: JAI Press.

Hawkins, J.D., Herrenkohl, T.I., Farrington, D.P., Brewer, D., Catalano, R.F., Harachi, T.W., and Cothern, L. 2000. *Predictors of Youth Violence*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Holder, H.D., and Blose, J.O. 1987. Impact of changes in distilled spirits availability on apparent consumption: A time series analysis of liquor-by-the-drink. *British Journal of Addiction* 82:623–831.

Howell, J.C., ed. 1995. *Guide for Implementing the Comprehensive Strategy for Serious, Violent, and Chronic Juvenile Offenders.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Hunt, D.E. 1990. Drugs and consensual crimes: Drug dealing and prostitution. In *Drugs and Crime*, edited by M. Tonry and J.Q. Wilson. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Hyndman, B., Giesbrecht, N., Bernardi, D.R., Coston, N., Douglas, R.R., Ferrence, R.G., Gliksman, L., Godstadt, M.S., Graham, D.G., and Loranger, P.D. 1992. Preventing substance abuse through multicomponent community action research projects: Lessons from past experiences and challenges for future initiatives. *Contemporary Drug Problems* 19:133–164.

Join Together. 2000a. *Maryland To Store Gun 'Fingerprints*.' Retrieved August 10, 2000, from the Web: www.jointogether.org/gv/news/summaries/reader/0,2061,264001,00.html.

Join Together. 2000b. *Survey Reveals That Americans Want Stronger Regulation of Guns*. Retrieved September 12, 2000, from the Web: www.jointogether.org/gv/news/alerts/reader/0,2061,263823,00.html.

Joyce Foundation. 2000. *Work in Progress: Protecting the Children*. Retrieved August 10, 2000, from the Web: www.joycefdn.org/programs/gunviolence/gunviolencemain-fs.html.

Lindsay, B., and McGillis, D. 1986. Citywide community crime prevention: An assessment of the Seattle program. In *Community Crime Prevention: Does It Work?* edited by D.P. Rosenbaum. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc., pp. 46–67.

Loftin, C., McDowall, D., and Wiersema, B. 1993. Evaluating effects of changes in gun laws. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 9(Supplement):39–43.

Loftin, C., McDowall, D., Wiersema, B., and Cottey, T.I. 1991. Effects of restrictive licensing of handguns on homicide and suicide in the District of Columbia. *New England Journal of Medicine* 325:1615–1620.

MacKenzie, D.L., and Uchida, C.D., eds. 1994. *Drugs and Crime: Evaluating Public Policy Initiatives*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Maguin, E., Hawkins, J.D., Catalano, R.F., Hill, K., Abbott, R., and Herrenkohl, T. 1995. Risk factors measured at three ages for violence at age 17–18. Paper presented at the American Society of Criminology, Boston, MA.

Markowitz, S., and Grossman, M. 1998. Alcohol regulation and domestic violence toward children. *Contemporary Economic Policy* 16(3):309–320.

Mazerolle, L., Price, J., and Roehl, J. 2000. Civil remedies and drug control: A randomized field trial in Oakland, California. *Evaluation Review* 24(2):212–241.

McBride, D.C., and McCoy, C.B. 1993. The drug-crime relationship: An analytical framework. *The Prison Journal* 73(3 and 4):257–278.

McDowall, D., Loftin, C., and Wiersema, B. 1992. A comparative study of the preventive effects of mandatory sentencing laws for gun crimes. *Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology* 83:378–394.

National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. Best practice activities in a safe community. Retrieved October 17, 2000, from the Web: www.nhtsa.dot.gov/people/outreach/safecomm/scbestp/activities.html.

North Central Regional Educational Laboratory. *Cultural Norms*. Retrieved July 13, 2000, from the Web: www.ncrel.org/sdrs/areas/issues/envrnmnt/drugfree/sa1lk2.htm.

Office of Justice Programs. 1996. Reducing demand through prevention. In *OJP Drugs and Crime Working Group*. Retrieved August 30, 2000, from the Web: www.ojp.usdoj.gov/reports/96wg/prev.htm.

Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. 1996a. *Reducing Youth Gun Violence: An Overview of Programs and Initiatives*. Program Report. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. 1996b. *Kids and Guns*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. 1999. Section VI: Strategies To Respond To Illegal Gun Use. In *Promising Strategies To Reduce Gun Violence*. Report. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Office of National Drug Control Policy, National Youth Anti-Drug Media Campaign. *Investing In Our Nation's Youth: The National Youth Anti-Drug Media Campaign Surpasses Expectations in Phase II.* Media Campaign Update Fact Sheet. Retrieved October 17, 2000, from the Web: www.mediacampaign.org/newsroom/080299/mcphase.html.

O'Malley, P.M., and Wagenaar, A.C. 1991. Effects of minimum drinking age laws on alcohol use, related behaviors and traffic crash involvement among American youth: 1976–87. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol* 52:478–491.

Paschall, M.J. 1996. Exposure to violence and the onset of violent behavior and substance use among black male youth: An assessment of independent effects and psychosocial mediators. Paper presented at the Society for Prevention Research, San Juan, Puerto Rico.

Pentz, M.A., MacKinnon, D.P., Flay, B.R., Hansen, W.B., Johnson, C.A., and Dwyer, J.H. 1989. Primary prevention of chronic diseases in adolescence: Effects of the Midwestern Prevention Project on tobacco use. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 130:713–724.

Perry, C.L., Kelder, S.H., Murray, D.M., and Klepp, K.-I. 1992. Communitywide smoking prevention: Long-term outcomes of the Minnesota Heart Health Program and Class of 1989 Study. *American Journal of Public Health* 82:1210–1216.

Perry, C.L., Klepp, K.-I., and Sillers, C. 1989. Communitywide strategies for cardiovascular health: The Minnesota Heart Health Program youth program. *Health Education Research* 4:87–101.

Pfau, M., and Parrott, R. 1993. *Persuasive Communication Campaigns*. Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.

Pransky, J. 1991. *Prevention: The Critical Need*. Springfield, MO: Burrell Foundation and Paradigm Press.

Rosenbaum, D.P., Bennett, S.F., Lindsay, B.D., Wilkinson, D.L., Davis, B.D., Taranowski, C., and Lavrakas, P.J. 1992. *Executive Summary: The Community Responses to Drug Abuse National Demonstration Program Final Process Report*. Chicago, IL: University of Illinois, Center for Research in Law and Justice.

Rosenbaum, D.P., Lewis, D.A., and Grant, J.A. 1986. Neighborhood-based crime prevention: Assessing the efficacy of community organizing in Chicago. In *Community Crime Prevention: Does It Work?* edited by D.P. Rosenbaum. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Sampson, R. 1995. The community. In *Crime*, edited by J.Q. Wilson and J. Petersilia. San Francisco, CA: ICS Press, Inc.

Sampson, R.J., and Lauritsen, J. 1994. Community structure and crime: Testing social-disorganization theory. *American Journal of Sociology* 94:774–802.

Shaw, C.R., and McKay, H.D. 1942. *Juvenile Delinquency in Urban Areas*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Sherman, L. 1997. Communities and crime prevention. In *Preventing Crime: What Works, What Doesn't, What's Promising*, edited by L.W. Sherman, D. Gottfredson, D. MacKenzie, J. Eck, P. Reuter, and S. Bushway. A Report to the United States Congress. College Park, MD: University of Maryland, Department of Criminology and Criminal Justice.

Sloan, J.H., Kellerman, A.I., Reay, D.T., Ferris, J.A., Koepsell, T., Rivara, F.P., Rice, C., Gray, L., and LoGerfo, J. 1988. Handgun regulations, crime, assaults, and homicide: A tale of two cities. *New England Journal of Medicine* 319:1256–1262.

Sutherland, E.H. 1947. *Principles of Criminology*, 4th ed. Philadelphia, PA: J.B. Lippincott.

Tinzmann, M.B., and Hixson, J. 1992. *What Does Research Say About Prevention?* Oak Brook, IL: North Central Regional Educational Laboratory. Retrieved July 13, 2000, from the Web: www.ncrel.org/sdrs/areas/stw esys/6prevntn.htm.

Tonry, M., and Wilson, J.Q., eds. *Drugs and Crime*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Vartiainen, E., Pallonen, U., McAlister, A., Koskela, K., and Puska, P. 1986. Four-year follow-up results of the smoking prevention program in the North Karelia Youth Project. *Preventive Medicine* 15:692–698.

Vartiainen, E., Pallonen, U., McAlister, A., and Puska, P. 1990. Eight-year follow-up results of an adolescent smoking prevention program: The North Karelia Youth Project. *American Journal of Public Health* 80:78–79.

Wagenaar, A.C., and Holder, H.D. 1991. A change from public to private sale of wine: Results from natural experiments in Iowa and West Virginia. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol* 52:162–173.

Wallach, L.B. 1994. *Violence and Young Children's Development*. ERIC Digest. Urbana, IL: ERIC Clearinghouse on Elementary and Early Childhood Education.

Family: Family Strengthening and Family Therapy

Barton, C., Gordon, D., Grotpeter, J., Hansson, K., Harrison, R., Mears, S., Mihalic, S., Schulman, S., Waldron, H., and Sexton, T. 1998. *Blueprints for Violence Prevention, Book Three: Functional Family Therapy*. Boulder, CO: Center for the Study and Prevention of Violence.

Alexander, J.F., and Parsons, B.V. 1973. Short-term behavioral intervention with delinquent families: Impact on family process and recidivism. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology* 81:219–225.

Alexander, J.F., and Parsons, B.V. 1982. Functional Family Therapy: Principles and Procedures. Carmel, CA: Brooks/Cole.

Alvarado, R., and Kumpfer, K. 2000. *Strengthening America's Families*. Report. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Baker, A., and Piotrkowski, C. 1995. HIPPY *Implementation Report*. New York, NY: National Council of Jewish Women Center for the Child.

Baker, A., and Piotrkowski, C. 1996. *Parents and Children Through the School Years: The Effects of the Home Instruction Program for Preschool Youngsters*. Final report submitted to the David and Lucile Packard Foundation, Los Altos, CA.

Bernard, B. 1991. Fostering Resiliency in Kids: Protective Factors in the Family, School, and Community. Portland, OR: Northwest Regional Educational Laboratory.

Bradley R.H., and Whiteside, L. 1995. *Evaluation of HIPPY Program: A Look at Outcomes for Children at the End of Second Grade*. Little Rock, AR: University of Arkansas at Little Rock, Center for Research on Teaching and Learning.

Bridgeman, B., Blumental, J.B., and Andrews, S.R. 1981. *Parent Child Development Center: Final Evaluation Report*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Human Development Services.

Brook, J.S., Whiteman, M., Finch, S., and Cohen, P. 1998. Mutual attachment, personality, and drug use: Pathways from childhood to young adulthood. *Genetic, Social, and General Psychology Monographs* 124(4):492–510.

Brounstein, P., and Zweig, J. 1999. *Understanding Substance Abuse Prevention, Toward the 21st Century: A Primer on Effective Programs*. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Center for Substance Abuse Prevention.

Capaldi, D.M., and Patterson, G.R. 1996. Can violent offenders be distinguished from frequent offenders? Prediction from childhood to adolescence. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency* 33:206–231.

Cates, K.K. 1995. *Early Intervention of At-Risk Children: Effects on Academic Performance*. Dissertation. Little Rock, AK: University of Arkansas.

Center for Mental Health Services, Knowledge Exchange Network. 1998. *Traditional Therapies*. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Center for Mental Health Services. www.mentalhealth.org/publications/allpubs/ken98-0053/default.asp.

Cernkovich, S.A., and Giordano, P.C. 1987. Family relationships and delinquency. *Criminology* 25(2):295–321.

Chamberlain, P., and Mihalic, S.F. 1998. Multidimensional treatment foster care. In *Blueprints for Violence Prevention, Book Eight: Multidimensional Treatment Foster Care*, edited by D.S. Elliott. Boulder, CO: Center for the Study and Prevention of Violence.

Child Trends. 2000. Preventing Problems Versus Promoting the Positive: What Do We Want for Our Children? Research Brief. Washington, DC: Child Trends.

Conger, R.D., Patterson, G.D., and Ge, X. 1995. It takes two to replicate: A mediational model for the impact of parents' stress on adolescent adjustment. *Child Development* 66:80–97.

Conger, R.D., and Simons, S.L. 1997. Life-course contingencies in the development of adolescent antisocial behavior: A matching law approach. In *Advances in Criminological Theory*, vol. 7, edited by T.P. Thornberry. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction, pp. 55–99.

Coombs, R.H., Paulson, M.J., and Richardson, M.A. 1991. Peer versus parental influence in substance use among Hispanic and Anglo children and adolescents. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence* 20:73–88.

Coordinating Council on Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. 1999. *Effective Strategies in Parent Training and Family Strengthening*. Background Information. www.ojjdp.ncjrs.org/council/1999nov/parent.html.

Dawson, R.E., Kenneth P., and Dawson, K.S. *Political Socialization*. Boston, MA: Little Brown.

Developmental Research and Programs, Inc. 1996. *Prevention Strategies: A Research Guide to What Works*. Seattle, WA: Developmental Research and Programs, Inc.

Dishion, T.J. 1996. Advances in family-based intervention to prevent adolescent drug abuse. Paper presented at the National Conference on Drug Abuse Prevention Research: Presentations, Papers, and Recommendations, Rockville, MD, September 19–20.

Dishion, T.J., Kavanagh, K., and Kiesner, J. 1998. Prevention of early adolescent substance use among high-risk youth: A multiple gating approach to parent interventions. In *National Conference on Drug Abuse Prevention Research: Presentations, Papers, and Recommendations*. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office, pp. 87–100.

Doerner, W.G. 1987. Child maltreatment seriousness and juvenile delinquency. *Youth and Society* 19(2):197–224.

Dornbusch, S.M., Carlsmith, J.M., Bushwall, S.J., Ritter, P.L., Leiderman, H., Hastorf, A.H., and Gross, R.T. 1985. Single parents, extended households, and the control of adolescents. *Child Development* 56:326–341.

Drazen, S., and Haust, M. 1994. *Increasing Children's Readiness for School by a Parental Education Program.* Binghamton, NY: Community Resource Center.

Drazen, S., and Haust, M. 1995. *The Effects of the Parents and Children Together (PACT) Program on School Achievement.* Binghamton, NY: Community Resource Center.

Drazen, S., and Haust, M. 1996. *Lasting Academic Gains From a Home Visitation Program*. Binghamton, NY: Community Resource Center.

Dumas, J.E. 1989. Treating antisocial behavior in children: Child and family approaches. *Clinical Psychology Review* 9:197–222.

Erickson, E.H. 1985. *Childhood and Society*. New York, NY: W.W. Norton and Co. (original work published 1950).

General Accounting Office. 1997. *Child Welfare: States' Progress in Implementing Family Preservation and Support Services.* Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

Gomby, D.S., Culross, P.L., and Behrman, R.E. 1999. Home visiting: Recent program evaluations—Analysis and recommendations. *The Future of Children* 9(1):4–26.

Gomby, D.S., Larner, M.B., Stevenson, C.S., Lewit, E.M., and Behrman, R.E. 1995. Long-term outcomes of early childhood programs: Analysis and recommendations. *The Future of Children* 5(3):6–24.

Gottfredson, M., and Hirschi, T. 1990. *A General Theory of Crime*. Palo Alto, CA: Stanford University Press.

Greenwood, P.W. 1999. *Costs and Benefits of Early Childhood Intervention*. Fact Sheet. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Greenwood, P.W., Model, K.E., Hydell, C.P., and Chiesa, J. 1998. *Diverting Children From a Life of Crime*. Santa Monica, CA: The RAND Corporation.

Haley, J. 1963. Strategies of Psychotherapy. New York, NY: Grune and Stratton.

Hawkins, D.F., Laub, J.H., Lauritsen, J.F., and Cothern, L. 2000. *Race, Ethnicity, and Serious and Violent Juvenile Offending*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Hawkins, J.D., Arthur, M.W., and Catalano, R.F. 1995. Preventing substance abuse. In *Building a Safer Society: Strategic Approaches to Crime Prevention*, vol. 19 of *Crime and Justice: A Review of Research*, edited by M. Tonry and D. Farrington. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press, pp. 343–427.

Hawkins, J.D., Catalano, R.F., and Miller, J.Y. 1992. Risk and protective factors for alcohol and other drug problems in adolescence and early adulthood: Implications for substance abuse prevention. *Psychological Bulletin* 112(1):64–105.

Henggeler, S.W. 1989. Causes of Delinquency. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Henggeler, S.W., and Borduin, C.M. 1990. Family Therapy and Beyond: A Multisystemic Approach to Treating the Behavior Problems of Children and Adolescents. Pacific Grove, CA: Brooks/Cole.

Henggeler, S.W., Mihalic, S.F., Rone, L., Thomas, C., and Timmons-Mitchell, J. 1998. *Blueprints for Violence Prevention, Book Six: Multisystemic Therapy*. Boulder, CO: Center for the Study and Prevention of Violence.

Hirschi, T. 1969. Causes of Delinquency. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Hirschi, T. 1995. The family. In *Crime*, edited by J.Q. Wilson and J. Petersilia. San Francisco, CA: ICS Press.

Howell, J.C., ed. 1995. *Guide for Implementing the Comprehensive Strategy for Serious, Violent, and Chronic Juvenile Offenders.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Huizinga, D., Loeber, R., and Thornberry, T.P. 1995. *Recent Findings From the Program of Research on the Causes and Correlates of Delinquency*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Johnson, D.L. 1991. Primary prevention of behavior problems in young children: The Houston parent-child development center. In *Fourteen Ounces of Prevention*, edited by R. Price, E.L. Cohen, R.P. Lorion, and J. Ramoa-McKay. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association, pp. 44–52.

Johnson, D.L., and Breckenridge, J.N. 1982. The Houston parent-child development center and the primary prevention of behavior problems in young children. *American Journal of Community Psychology* 10:305–316.

Johnson, D.L., and Walker, T. 1987. Primary prevention of behavior problems in Mexican-American children. *American Journal of Community Psychology* 15:375–385.

Kazdin, A.E., Siegel, T.C., and Bass, D. 1992. Cognitive problem-solving skills training and parent management training in the treatment of antisocial behavior in children. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 60:733–747.

Kitzman, H., Olds, D.L., Sidora, K., Henderson, C.R., Hanks, C., Cole, R., Luckey, S.W., Bondy, J., Cole, K., and Glazner, J. 2000. Enduring effects of nurse home visitation on maternal life course: A 3-year follow-up of a randomized trial. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 283(15):1983–1989.

Kroupa, S.E. 1988. Perceived parental acceptance and female juvenile delinquency. *Adolescence* 23(89):171–285.

Kumpfer, K.L. 1999. *Strengthening America's Families: Exemplary Parenting and Family Strategies for Delinquency Prevention*. User's Guide. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Kumpfer, K.L., and Alvarado, R. 1995. Strengthening families to prevent drug use in multiethnic youth. In *Drug Abuse Prevention With Multiethnic Youth*, edited by G. Botvin, S. Schinke, and M. Orlandi. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc., pp. 253–292.

Kumpfer, K.L., and Alvarado, R. 1997. *Effective Family Strengthening Interventions*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Kumpfer, K.L., and Turner, C.W. 1990–1991. The social ecology model of adolescent substance abuse: Implications for prevention. *The International Journal of the Addictions* 25(4a):435–463.

Liaw, F., Meisels, S.J., and Brooks-Gunn, J. 1995. The effects of experience of early intervention on low birth weight premature children: The infant health and development program. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly* 10(4):405–431.

Loeber, R., and Dishion, T. 1983. Early predictors of male delinquency: A review. *Psychological Bulletin* 94(1):68–99.

Loeber, R., and Dishion, T. 1984. Boys who fight at home and school: Family conditions influencing cross-setting consistency. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 52(5):759–768.

Loeber, R., and Stouthamer-Loeber, M. 1986. Family factors as correlates and predictors of juvenile conduct problems and delinquency. In *Crime and Justice: An Annual Review of Research*, vol. 7, edited by M. Tonry and N. Morris. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press, pp. 29–149.

McCord, J. 1983. A 40-year perspective on effects of child abuse and neglect. *Abuse and Neglect* 7:265–270.

McElroy, P., and Goodsoe, C. 1998. Family group decision making offers alternative approach to child welfare. *Youth Law News* XIX(3).

Minuchin, S. 1974. Families and Family Therapy. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Molgaard, V.K., Spoth, R.L., and Redmond, C. 2000. *Competency Training—The Strengthening Families Program: For Parents and Youth 10–14*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

National Institute on Drug Abuse. 1999. *Drug Abuse and Addiction Research, the Sixth Triennial Report to Congress*. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, National Institute on Drug Abuse.

Newcomb, M.D., and Bentler, P.M. 1988. *The Consequences of Adolescent Drug Use: Impact on the Lives of Young Adults.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Nye, F.I. 1958. Family Relationships and Delinquent Behavior. New York, NY: John Wiley and Sons.

O'Donnell, O.M. 1999. *Parents Helping Parents: A Guide for Action*. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Center for Substance Abuse Prevention.

Patterson, G.R., Reid, J.B., and Dishion, T.J. 1992. *Antisocial Boys: A Social Interactional Approach*, Vol. 4. Eugene, OR: Castalia.

Plomin, R., Chipuer, H.M., and Loehlin, J.C. 1990. Behavioral genetics and personality. In *Handbook of Personality: Theory and Research*, edited by L.A. Pervin. New York, NY: Guilford Press, pp. 225–243.

Powell, J.Y., and Dosser, D.A. 1992. Structural family therapy as a bridge between "helping too much" and empowerment. *Family Therapy* 19(3):243–256.

Rosenthal, T., and Bandura, A. 1978. Psychological modeling: Theory and practice. In *Handbook of Psychotherapy and Behavior Change: An Empirical Analysis*, edited by S. Garfield and A.E. Bergin. New York, NY: John Wiley, pp. 621–658.

Simons, R.L., Chao, W., and Conger, R.D. 2001. Quality of parenting as mediator of the effect of childhood defiance on adolescent friendship choices and delinquency: A growth curve analysis. *Journal of Marriage and the Family* 63:63–79.

Simons, R.L., Johnson, C.A., Conger, R.D., and Elder, G.H., Jr. 1998. A test of latent trait versus life course perspective on the stability of adolescent antisocial behavior. *Criminology* 36:217–244.

Snyder, J., and Patterson, G. 1987. Family interaction and delinquent behavior. In *Handbook of Juvenile Delinquency*, edited by H.C. Quay. New York, NY: John Wiley and Sons, pp. 216–243.

Stanton, M.D., and Todd, T. 1982. Principles and techniques for getting resistance families into treatment. In *The Family Therapy of Drug Abuse and Addiction*, edited by M.D. Stanton and T. Todd. New York, NY: Guilford Press.

Stewart, E., Simons, R.L., Conger, R.D., and Scaramella, L. 2002. Beyond the interactional relationship between delinquency and parenting practices: The contribution of legal sanctions. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency* 39(1):36–59.

Szapocznik, J. 1997. Cultural competence and family program implementation. Paper presented at the Third National Training Conference on Strengthening America's Families, Washington, DC, March 23–25.

Szapocznik, J., and Kurtines, W.M. 1989. *Breakthroughs in Family Therapy With Drug-Abusing and Problem Youth.* New York, NY: Springer.

Szapocznik, J., Kurtines, W.M., Foote, F.H., and Perez-Vidal, A. 1983. Conjoint versus one-person family therapy: Some evidence for the effectiveness of conducting family therapy through one person. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 51:889–899.

Thornberry, T.P. 1987. Toward an interactional theory of delinquency. *Criminology* 25:863–891.

Videon, T. 2002. The effects of parent-adolescent relationships and parental separation on adolescent well-being. *Journal of Family and Marriage* 64:489–503.

Wells, L.E., and Rankin, J.H. 1991. Families and delinquency: A meta-analysis of the impact of broken homes. *Social Problems* 38(1):71–83.

Family: Parent Training

Barton, C., Gordon, D., Grotpeter, J., Hansson, K., Harrison, R., Mears, S., Mihalic, S., Schulman, S., Waldron, H., and Sexton, T. 1998. *Blueprints for Violence Prevention, Book Three: Functional Family Therapy*. Boulder, CO: Center for the Study and Prevention of Violence.

Alexander, J.F., and Parsons, B.V. 1973. Short-term behavioral intervention with delinquent families: Impact on family process and recidivism. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology* 81:219–225.

Alexander, J.F., and Parsons, B.V. 1982. Functional Family Therapy: Principles and Procedures. Carmel, CA: Brooks/Cole.

Alvarado, R., and Kumpfer, K. 2000. *Strengthening America's Families*. Report. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Baker, A., and Piotrkowski, C. 1995. *HIPPY Implementation Report*. New York, NY: National Council of Jewish Women Center for the Child.

Baker, A., and Piotrkowski, C. 1996. *Parents and Children Through the School Years: The Effects of the Home Instruction Program for Preschool Youngsters*. Final report submitted to the David and Lucile Packard Foundation, Los Altos, CA.

Bernard, B. 1991. Fostering Resiliency in Kids: Protective Factors in the Family, School, and Community. Portland, OR: Northwest Regional Educational Laboratory.

Bradley, R.H., and Whiteside, L. 1995. *Evaluation of HIPPY Program: A Look at Outcomes for Children at the End of Second Grade*. Little Rock, AR: University of Arkansas at Little Rock, Center for Research on Teaching and Learning.

Bridgeman, B., Blumental, J.B., and Andrews, S.R.. 1981. *Parent Child Development Center: Final Evaluation Report.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Human Development Services.

Brook, J.S., Whiteman, M., Finch, S., and Cohen, P. 1998. Mutual attachment, personality, and drug use: Pathways from childhood to young adulthood. *Genetic, Social, and General Psychology Monographs* 124(4):492–510.

Brounstein, P., and Zweig, J. 1999. *Understanding Substance Abuse Prevention, Toward the 21st Century: A Primer on Effective Programs*. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Center for Substance Abuse Prevention.

Bry, B.H. 1996. Psychological approaches to prevention. In *Drug Policy and Human Nature: Psychological Perspectives on the Prevention, Management, and Treatment of Illicit Drug Abuse*, edited by W.K. Bickel and R.J. DeGrandpre. New York, NY: Plenum Press, pp. 55–76.

Cates, K.K. 1995. *Early Intervention of At-Risk Children: Effects on Academic Performance*. Dissertation. Little Rock, AR: University of Arkansas.

Center for Mental Health Services, Knowledge Exchange Network. 1998. *Traditional Therapies*. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Center for Mental Health Services. www.mentalhealth.org/publications/allpubs/ken98-0053/default.asp.

Cernkovich, S.A., and Giordano, P.C. 1987. Family relationships and delinquency. *Criminology* 25(2):295–321.

Chamberlain, P., and Mihalic, S.F. 1998. Multidimensional treatment foster care. In *Blueprints for Violence Prevention, Book Eight: Multidimensional Treatment Foster Care*, edited by D.S. Elliott. Boulder, CO: Center for the Study and Prevention of Violence.

Child Trends. 2000. Preventing Problems Versus Promoting the Positive: What Do We Want for Our Children? Research Brief. Washington, DC: Child Trends.

Conger, R.D., Patterson, G.R., and Ge, X. 1995. It takes two to replicate: A mediational model for the impact of parents' stress on adolescent adjustment. *Child Development* 66:80–97.

Conger, R.D., and Simons, S.L. 1997. Life-course contingencies in the development of adolescent antisocial behavior: A matching law approach. In *Development Theories of Crime and Delinquency: Advances in Criminological Theory*, vol. 7, edited by T.P. Thornberry. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Publishers, pp. 55–99.

Coombs, R.H., Paulson, M.J., and Richardson, M.A. 1991. Peer versus parental influence in substance use among Hispanic and Anglo children and adolescents. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence* 20:73–88.

Coordinating Council on Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. 1999. *Effective Strategies in Parent Training and Family Strengthening*. *Background Information*. www.ojjdp.ncjrs.org/council/1999nov/parent.html.

Dawson, R.E., Previtt, K., and Dawson, K.S. *Political Socialization*. Boston, MA: Little Brown.

Developmental Research and Programs, Inc. 1996. *Communities That Care Prevention Strategies: A Research Guide to What Works*. Seattle, WA: Developmental Research and Programs, Inc.

Dishion, T.J. 1996. Advances in family-based intervention to prevent adolescent drug abuse. Paper presented at the National Conference on Drug Abuse Prevention Research: Presentations, Papers, and Recommendations, Rockville, MD, September 19–20.

Dishion, T.J., Kavanagh, K., and Kiesner, J. 1998. Prevention of early adolescent substance abuse among high-risk youth: A multiple gating approach to parent interventions. In *National Conference on Drug Abuse Prevention Research: Presentations, Papers, and Recommendations*. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office, pp. 87–100.

Doerner, W.G. 1987. Child maltreatment seriousness and juvenile delinquency. *Youth and Society* 19(2):197–224.

Dornbusch, S.M., Carlsmith, J.M., Bushwall, S.J., Ritter, P.L., Leiderman, H., Hastorf, A.H., and Gross, R.T. 1985. Single parents, extended households, and the control of adolescents. *Child Development* 56:326–341.

Drazen, S., and Haust, M. 1994. *Increasing Children's Readiness for School by a Parental Education Program.* Binghamton, NY: Community Resource Center.

Drazen, S., and Haust, M. 1995. *The Effects of the Parents and Children Together (PACT) Program on School Achievement*. Binghamton, NY: Community Resource Center.

Drazen, S., and Haust, M. 1996. *Lasting Academic Gains From a Home Visitation Program*. Binghamton, NY: Community Resource Center.

Dumas, J.E. 1989. Treating antisocial behavior in children: Child and family approaches. *Clinical Psychology Review* 9:197–222.

Elliott, D.S., Huizinga, D., and Menard, S. 1989. *Multiple Problem Youth: Delinquency, Substance Use, and Mental Health Problems*. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag.

Erickson, E.H. 1985. *Childhood and Society*. New York, NY: W.W. Norton and Co. (original work published 1950).

General Accounting Office. 1997. *Child Welfare: States' Progress in Implementing Family Preservation and Support Services.* Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

Gomby, D.S., Culross, P.L., and Behrman, R.E. 1999. Home visiting: Recent program evaluations—Analysis and recommendations. *The Future of Children* 9(1):4–26.

Gomby, D.S., Larner, M.B., Stevenson, C.S., Lewit, E.M., and Behrman, R.E. 1995. Long-term outcomes of early childhood programs: Analysis and recommendations. *The Future of Children* 5(3):6–24.

Gottfredson, M., and Hirschi, T. 1990. *A General Theory of Crime*. Palo Alto, CA: Stanford University Press.

Greenwood, P.W. 1999. *Costs and Benefits of Early Childhood Intervention*. Fact Sheet. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Greenwood, P.W., Model, K.E., Hydell, C.P., and Chiesa, J. 1998. *Diverting Children From a Life of Crime*. Santa Monica, CA: The RAND Corporation.

Haley, J. 1963. Strategies of Psychotherapy. New York, NY: Grune and Stratton.

Hawkins, D.F., Laub, J.H., Lauritsen, J.F., and Cothern, L. 2000. *Race, Ethnicity, and Serious and Violent Juvenile Offending*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Hawkins, J.D., Catalano, R.F., and Miller, J.Y. 1992. Risk and protective factors for alcohol and other drug problems in adolescence and early adulthood: Implications for substance abuse prevention. *Psychological Bulletin* 112(1):64–105.

Henggeler, S.W. 1989. Causes of Delinquency. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Henggeler, S.W., Mihalic, S.F., Rone, L., Thomas, C., and Timmons-Mitchell, J. 1998. *Blueprints for Violence Prevention, Book Six: Multisystemic Therapy*. Boulder, CO: Center for the Study and Prevention of Violence.

Hirschi, T. 1969. Causes of Delinquency. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Hirschi, T. 1995. The family. In *Crime*, edited by J.Q. Wilson and J. Petersilia. San Francisco, CA: ICS Press.

Howell, J.C., ed. 1995. *Guide for Implementing the Comprehensive Strategy for Serious, Violent, and Chronic Juvenile Offenders.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Huizinga, D., Loeber, R., and Thornberry, T.P. 1995. *Recent Findings from the Program of Research on the Causes and Correlates of Delinquency*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Johnson, D.L. 1991. Primary prevention of behavior problems in young children: The Houston parent-child development center. In *Fourteen Ounces of Prevention*, edited by R. Price, E.L. Cohen, R.P. Lorion, and J. Ramoa-McKay. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association, pp. 44–52.

Johnson, D.L., and Breckenridge, J.N. 1982. The Houston parent-child development center and the primary prevention of behavior problems in young children. *American Journal of Community Psychology* 10:305–316.

Johnson, D.L., and Walker, T. 1987. Primary prevention of behavior problems in Mexican-American children. *American Journal of Community Psychology* 15:375–385.

Kazdin, A.E., Siegel, T.C., and Bass, D. 1992. Cognitive problem-solving skills training and parent management training in the treatment of antisocial behavior in children. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 60:733–747.

Kitzman, H., Olds, D.L., Sidora, K., Henderson, C.R., Hanks, C., Cole, R., Luckey, S.W., Bondy, J., Cole, K., and Glazner, J. 2000. Enduring effects of nurse home visitation on maternal life course: A 3-year follow-up of a randomized trial. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 283(15):1983–1989.

Kroupa, S.E. 1988. Perceived parental acceptance and female juvenile delinquency. *Adolescence* 23(89):171–285.

Kumpfer, K.L. 1999. *Strengthening America's Families: Exemplary Parenting and Family Strategies for Delinquency Prevention*. User's Guide. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Kumpfer, K.L., and Alvarado, R. 1995. Strengthening families to prevent drug use in multiethnic youth. In *Drug Abuse Prevention With Multiethnic Youth*, edited by G. Botvin, S. Schinke, and M. Orlandi. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc., pp. 253–292.

Kumpfer, K.L., and Alvarado, R. 1997. *Effective Family Strengthening Interventions*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Kumpfer, K.L., and Turner, C.W. 1990–1991. The social ecology model of adolescent substance abuse: Implications for prevention. *The International Journal of the Addictions* 25(4a):435–463.

Liaw, F., Meisels, S.J., and Brooks-Gunn, J. 1995. The effects of experience of early intervention on low birth weight premature children: The infant health and development program. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly* 10(4):405–431.

Loeber, R., and Dishion, T.J. 1984. Boys who fight at home and school: Family conditions influencing cross-setting consistency. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 52(5):759–768.

Loeber, R., and Stouthamer-Loeber, M. 1986. Family factors as correlates and predictors of juvenile conduct problems and delinquency. In *Crime and Justice: An Annual Review of Research*, vol. 7, edited by M. Tonry and N. Morris. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press, pp. 29–149.

McCord, J. 1983. A 40-year perspective on effects of child abuse and neglect. *Abuse and Neglect* 7:265–270.

McElroy, P., and Goodsoe, C. 1998. Family group decision making offers alternative approach to child welfare. *Youth Law News* XIX(3).

Minuchin, S. 1974. Families and Family Therapy. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Molgaard, V.K., Spoth, R.L., and Redmond, C. 2000. *Competency Training—The Strengthening Families Program: For Parents and Youth 10–14*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

National Institute on Drug Abuse. 1999. *Drug Abuse and Addiction Research, the Sixth Triennial Report to Congress*. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, National Institute on Drug Abuse.

Nye, F.I. 1958. Family Relationships and Delinquent Behavior. New York, NY: John Wiley and Sons.

O'Donnell, O.M. 1999. *Parents Helping Parents: A Guide for Action*. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Center for Substance Abuse Prevention.

Olds, D., Henderson, C., Cole, R., Eckenrode, J., Kitzman, H., Luckey, D., Pettit, L., Sidora, K., Morris, P., and Powers, J. 1998. Long-term effects of nurse home visitation on children's criminal and antisocial behavior. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 280(14):1238–1244.

Parks, G. 2000. *The High/Scope Perry Preschool Project*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Partnership for a Drug-Free America. 1999. Partnership Attitude Tracking Study 1999 (Parents). www.drugfreeamerica.org/Templates/National_Surveys.asp.

Patterson, G.R., Reid, J.B., and Dishion, T.J. 1992. *Antisocial Boys: A Social Interactional Approach*, vol. 4. Eugene, OR: Castalia.

Pfannenstiel, J., Lambson, T., and Yarnell, V. 1991. Second Wave Study of the Parents as Teachers Program. Overland, KS: Research and Training Associates.

Pfannenstiel, J., and Seltzer, D. 1985. *Evaluation Report: New Parents as Teachers Project*. Overland, KS: Research and Training Associates.

Pfouts, J.H., Scholper, J.H., and Henley, H.C., Jr. 1981. Deviant behaviors of child victims and bystanders in violent families. In *Exploring the Relationship Between Child Abuse and Delinquency*, edited by R.J. Hunter and Y.E. Walker. Montclair, NJ: Allandeld Osmun.

Plomin, R., Chipuer, H.M., and Loehlin, J.C. 1990. Behavioral genetics and personality. In *Handbook of Personality: Theory and Research*, edited by L.A. Pervin. New York, NY: Guilford Press, pp. 225–243.

Powell, J.Y., and Dosser, D.A. 1992. Structural family therapy as a bridge between "helping too much" and empowerment. *Family Therapy* 19(3):243–256.

Rahdert, E.R. 1996. Introduction to the perinatal-20 treatment research demonstration program. In *Treatment for Drug-Exposed Women and Their Children: Advances in Research Methodology: 1–4*, edited by E.R. Rahdert. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, National Institute on Drug Abuse.

Ramey, C. 1990. Enhancing the outcomes of low birth-weight, premature infants: A multisite, randomized trial. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 263(22):3035–3042.

Ramey, C.T., Bryant, D.M., Wasik, B.H., Sparling, J.J., Fendt, K.H., and LaVange, L.M. 1992. The infant health and development program for low birth weight, premature infants: Program elements, family participation, and child intelligence. *Pediatrics* 89(3):454–465.

Ray, M.L. 1999. New York counties test FCGs: Lessons learned from the evaluation. *Interdisciplinary Report on At-Risk Children and Families* 1(6):81, 88–93.

Rosenthal, T., and Bandura, A. 1978. Psychological modeling: Theory and practice. In *Handbook of Psychotherapy and Behavior Change: An Empirical Analysis*, edited by S. Garfield and A.E. Bergin. New York, NY: John Wiley, pp. 621–658.

Rutter, M. 1979. Protective factors in children's responses to stress and disadvantage. In *Primary Prevention of Psychotherapy: Volume 3, Social Competence in Children*, edited by M.W. Kent and J.E. Rolf. Hanover, NH: University Press of New England.

Sampson, R.J., and Laub, J.H. 1993. *Crime in the Making: Pathways and Turning Points Through Life*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Satterfield, J.H., Satterfield, B.T., and Schell, A.M. 1987. Therapeutic interventions to prevent delinquency in hyperactive boys. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry* 26:56–64.

Search Institute. 2000. *Forty Developmental Assets*. Retrieved August 1, 2000, from the Web: www.search-institute.org/assets/forty.htm.

Sherman, L.W., Gottfredson, D., MacKenzie, D., Eck, J., Reuter, P., and Bushway, S., eds. 1997. *Preventing Crime: What Works, What Doesn't, What's Promising*. A Report to the United States Congress. College Park, MD: University of Maryland, Department of Criminology and Criminal Justice.

Simons, R.L., Chao, W., and Conger, R.D. 2001. Quality of parenting as mediator of the effect of childhood defiance on adolescent friendship choices and delinquency: A growth curve analysis. *Journal of Marriage and the Family* 63:63–79.

Simons, R.L., Johnson, C.A., Conger, R.D., and Elder, G.H., Jr. 1998. A test of latent trait versus life course perspective on the stability of adolescent antisocial behavior. *Criminology* 36:217–244.

Simons, R.L., Wu, C., Johnson, C.A., and Conger, R.D. 1994. A test of family and social deviance: Explanations for the intergenerational transmission of domestic violence. *Criminology* 33:141–172.

Slavin, L., and Rainer, K. 1990. Gender differences in emotional support and depressive symptoms among adolescents: A prospective analysis. *American Journal of Community Psychology* 18(3):407–421.

Snyder, J., and Patterson, G. 1987. Family interactions and delinquent behavior. In *Handbook of Juvenile Delinquency*, edited by H.C. Quay. New York, NY: John Wiley and Sons, pp. 216–243.

St. Pierre, R.G., Layzer, J.I., and Barnes, H.V. 1995. Two-generation programs: Design, cost, and short-term effectiveness. *The Future of Children* 5(3):76–93.

Stanton, M.D., and Todd, T. 1982. Principles and techniques for getting resistant families into treatment. In *The Family Therapy of Drug Abuse and Addiction*, edited by M.D. Stanton and T. Todd. New York, NY: Guilford Press.

Steinberg, L. 1990. Authoritative Parenting and Adolescent Adjustment Across Varied Ecological Niches. Madison, WI: National Center of Effective Secondary Schools.

Steinberg, L. 2000. *Youth Violence: Do Parents and Families Make a Difference?* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, National Institute of Justice.

Stewart, E., Simons, R.L., Conger, R.D., and Scaramella, L. 2002. Beyond the interactional relationship between delinquency and parenting practices: The contribution of legal sanctions. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency* 39(1):36–59.

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. 1998. *Substance Abuse and Mental Health Statistics Source Book*. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.

Sudarkasa, N. 1996. African-American female-headed households: A different perspective. In *Voices of Vision*, edited by J. Malveaux. Washington, DC: National Council of Negro Women, pp. 144–155.

Szapocznik, J. 1997. Cultural competency and family program implementation. Paper presented at the Third National Training Conference on Strengthening America's Families, Washington DC, March 23–25.

Szapocznik, J., and Kurtines, W.M. 1989. *Breakthroughs in Family Therapy With Drug-Abusing and Problem Youth.* New York, NY: Springer.

Szapocznik, J., Kurtines, W.M., Foote, F.H., and Perez-Vidal, A. 1983. Conjoint versus one-person family therapy: Some evidence for the effectiveness of conducting family therapy through one person. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 51:889–899.

Thornberry, T.P. 1987. Toward an interactional theory of delinquency. *Criminology* 25:863–891.

Thornberry, T.P. 1994. *Violent Families and Youth Violence*. Fact Sheet. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Tremblay, R.E., McCord, J., Boileau, H., Charlebois, P., Gagnon, C., LeBlanc, M., and Larivee, S. 1991. Can disruptive boys be helped to become competent? *Psychiatry* 54:148–161.

Tremblay, R.E., Vitaro, F., Bertrand, L., LeBlanc, H., Beauchesne, H., Boileau, H., and David, L. 1992. Parent and child training to prevent early onset of delinquency: The Montreal longitudinal-experimental study. In *Preventing Antisocial Behavior: Interventions From Birth Through Adolescence*, edited by J. McCord and R.E. Tremblay. New York, NY: Guilford Press.

University of Utah. 1999. Strengthening America's Families, Effective Family Programs for Prevention of Delinquency. www.strengtheningfamilies.org/html/model_programs.html.

Wagner, M. 1992. *Home, the First Classroom: A Pilot Evaluation of the Northern California Parents as Teachers Project.* Menlo Park, CA: SRI International.

Wagner, M. 1993. Evaluation of the National City Parent as Teachers Program. Menlo Park, CA: SRI International.

Webster-Stratton, C. 1984. A randomized trial of two-parent training programs for families with conduct-disordered children. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 52(4):666–678.

Webster-Stratton, C. 1985. Predictors of treatment outcome in parent training for conduct disordered children. *Behavior Therapy* 16:223–243.

Webster-Stratton, C. 2000. *The Incredible Years Training Series*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Westat, Inc., in association with James Bell Associates, Inc., and the Chapin Hall Center for Children. 1995. *A Review of Family Preservation and Family Reunification Programs*. http://aspe.hhs.gov/hsp/cyp/fpprogs.htm.

Yoshikawa, H. 1995. Long-term effects of early childhood programs on social outcomes and delinquency. *The Future of Children* 5(3):51–75.

Individual: Leadership and Youth Development

Bazemore, G., and Terry, C. 1997. Developing delinquent youths: A reintegrative model for rehabilitation and a new role for the juvenile justice systems. *Child Welfare* 76(5):665–716.

Benson, P., and Saito, R. 2000. The scientific foundations of youth development. In *Youth Development: Issues, Challenges, and Directions*, edited by Public/Private Ventures. Philadelphia, PA: Public/Private Ventures.

Catalano, R.F., Berglund, M.L., Ryan, J.A.M., Lonczak, H.C., and Hawkins, J.D. 1998. Positive youth development in the United States: Research findings on evaluations of positive youth development programs. Paper submitted to U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation and National Institute for Child Health and Human Development, Washington, DC.

Cognetta, P.V., and Sprinthall, N.A. 1978. Students as teachers: Role taking as a means of promoting psychological development during adolescence. In *Value Development as the Aim of Education*, edited by N.A. Sprinthall and R.L. Mosher. Schenectady, NY: Character Research Press.

Conrad, D., and Hedin, D. 1981. *National Assessment of Experiential Education: A Final Report*. St. Paul, MN: University of Minnesota.

Elliott, D. 1993. Serious violent offenders: Onset, developmental course, and termination. American Society of Criminology 1993 Presidential Address. *Criminology* 32:1–10.

Newman, F.M., and Rutter, R.A. 1983. *The Effects of High School Community Service Programs on Students' Social Development*. Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin.

Rutter, M. 1985. Resilience in the face of adversity: Protective factors and resistance to psychiatric disorder. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 147:598–611.

Scales, P. 1999. Reducing risks and building developmental assets: Essential actions for promoting adolescent health. *Journal of School Health* 69(3):113–119.

Scales, P., and Leffert, N. 1999. *Developmental Assets: A Synthesis of the Scientific Research on Adolescent Development*. Minneapolis, MN: Search Institute.

Schartz, R. 2000. Juvenile justice and positive youth development. In *Youth Development: Issues, Challenges, and Directions*, edited by Public/Private Ventures. Philadelphia, PA: Public/Private Ventures.

Werner, E.E. 1986. Resilient offspring of alcoholics: A longitudinal study from birth to age 18. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol* 47:34–40.

Individual: Mentoring

Bernard, B. 1992. *Mentoring Programs for Urban Youth: Handle With Care*. Portland, OR: Western Regional Center for Drug-Free Schools and Communities.

Brown, R.S. 1996. Challenges and potential of mentoring at-risk students: A literature review. *ERS Spectrum* 14(2):17–28.

Center for Substance Abuse Prevention. 2000. *Mentoring Initiatives: An Overview of Mentoring*. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Center for Substance Abuse Prevention.

Freedman, M. 1993. *The Kindness of Strangers: Adult Mentors, Urban Youth and the New Volunteerism.* San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Grossman, J.B., and Garry, E.M. 1997. *Mentoring—A Proven Delinquency Prevention Strategy*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Hawkins, J.D., and Catalano, R.F. 1992. *Communities That Care*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Herrera, C., Sipe, C.L., and McClanahan, W.S. 2000. *Mentoring School-Age Children: Relationship Development in Community-Based and School-Based Programs*. Philadelphia, PA: Public/Private Ventures.

Herrera, C., Vang, Z., and Gale, L. 2002. *Group Mentoring: A Study of Mentoring Groups in Three Programs*. Philadelphia, PA: Public/Private Ventures.

LoSciuto, L., Rajala, A., Townsend, T., and Taylor, A.S. 1996. An outcome evaluation of Across Ages: An intergenerational mentoring approach to drug prevention. *Journal of Adolescent Research* 11(1):116–125.

Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. 1998. *Juvenile Mentoring Program:* 1998 Report to Congress. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Rak, C.F., and Patterson, C.F. 1996. Promoting resilience in at-risk children. *Journal of Counseling and Development* 74(1):368–373.

Tierny, J.P., and Grossman, J. 1995. *Making a Difference: An Impact Study*. Philadelphia, PA: Public/Private Ventures.

Werner, E.E. 1984. Resilient children. Young Children 40(1):68–72.

Individual: Prevention Services

Bilchik, S. 1998. *Mental Health Disorders and Substance Abuse Problems Among Juveniles*. Fact Sheet. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Breda, C.S. 1995. Delinquency and mental illness: The intersection of problems and system. In *Eighth Annual Research and Training Center Conference Proceedings*. Tampa, FL: University of South Florida, Florida Mental Health Institute.

Center for Mental Health Services. 1997. *Children's and Adolescents' Mental Health*. Fact Sheet. www.mentalhealth.samhsa.gov/publications/allpubs/CA-0004/default.asp.

Cocozza, J. 1992. *Responding to the Mental Health Needs of Youth in the Juvenile Justice System.* Seattle, WA: The National Coalition for the Mentally Ill in the Criminal Justice System.

Elliott, D.S., Huizinga, D., and Menard, S. 1989. *Multiple Problem Youth: Delinquency, Substance Use, and Mental Health Problems.* New York, NY: Springer-Verlag.

Fagan, J. 1991. Community-based treatment for mentally disordered juvenile offenders. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology* 20(1):42–50.

Hollender, H., and Turner, F. 1985. Characteristics of incarcerated delinquents: Relationship between developmental disorders, environmental and family factors, and patterns of offense and recidivism. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry* 24(2):221–226.

Huizinga, D., Loeber, R., Thornberry, T., and Cothern, L. 2000. *Co-occurrence of Delinquency and Other Problem Behaviors*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Kelley, B.T., Thornberry, T.P., and Smith, C.A. 1997. *In the Wake of Childhood Maltreatment*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Kracke, K. 2001. *Children's Exposure to Violence: The Safe Start Initiative*. Fact Sheet. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

McManus, M., Alessi, N., Grapentine, W., and Brickman, A. 1984. Psychiatric disturbance in serious delinquents. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry* 23(5):602–615.

Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. 2000. *Safe from the Start: Taking Action on Children Exposed to Violence*. Summary. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. n.d. *Abstract of Early SESS Findings*. http://ncadi.samhsa.gov/promos/SESS/earlyfindingsabstract.aspx.

Wiebush, R., Freitag, R., and Baird, C. 2001. *Preventing Delinquency Through Improved Child Protection Services*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Yoshikawa, H. 1994. Prevention as cumulative protection: Effects of early family support and education on chronic delinquency and its risks. *Psychological Bulletin* 115:28–54.

Individual: Vocational/Job Training

A.L. Nellum and Associates. 1980. *Impacts of SYEP Participation on Work-Related Behavior and Attitudes of Disadvantaged Youth, Final Report*. Washington, DC: A.L. Nellum and Associates.

Andrews, D.A., and Bonta, J. 1994. *The Psychology of Criminal Conduct*. Cincinnati, OH: Anderson.

Betsey, C.L., Hollister, R.G., Jr., and Papageorgiou, M.R., eds. 1985. *Youth Employment and Training Programs: The YEDPA Years*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.

Bloom, H.S., Orr, L.L., Cave, G., Bell, S.H., Doolitle, F., and Lin, W. 1994. *The National JTPA Study Overview: Impacts, Benefits, and Costs of Title II–A.* Bethesda, MD: ABT Associates, Inc.

Brooks, C.C., and White, C. 2000. *Curriculum for Training Educators of Youth in Confinement*. Fact Sheet. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Bushway, S., and Reuter, P. 1997. Labor markets and crime risk factors. In *Preventing Crime: What Works, What Doesn't, What's Promising*, edited by L.W. Sherman, D. Gottfredson, D. MacKenzie, J. Eck, P. Reuter, and S. Bushway. A Report to the United States Congress. College Park, MD: University of Maryland, Department of Criminology and Criminal Justice.

Cantelon, S., and LeBoeuf, D. 1997. *Keeping Young People in School: Community Programs That Work*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Cave, G., Bos, H., Doolittle, F., and Toussaint, C. 1993. *JOBSTART: Final Report on a Program for School Dropouts*. New York, NY: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.

Cave, G., and Quint, J. 1990. Career Beginnings Impact Evaluation: Findings From a Program for Disadvantaged High School Students. New York, NY: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.

Coeyman, M. 2000. Putting communities to work for at-risk kids. *Christian Science Monitor* (July 25).

Corporation for Public/Private Ventures. 1983. Longer Term Impacts of Preemployment Services on the Employment and Earnings of Disadvantaged Youth. Philadelphia, PA: Corporation for Public/Private Ventures.

Dynarski, M., and Gleason, P. 1999. *How Can We Help? Lessons From Federal Dropout Prevention Programs*. Princeton, NJ: Mathematica Policy Research, Inc.

Ehrlich, I. 1973. Participation in illegitimate activities: A theoretical and empirical investigation. *Journal of Political Economy* 81(3):521–565.

Fagan, J. 1995. Legal work and illegal work: Crime, work, and unemployment. In *Dealing With Urban Crisis: Linking Research to Action*, edited by B. Weisbrod and J. Worthy. Evanston, IL: Northwestern University Press.

Farkas, G., Smith, D.A., Stromsdorfer, E.W., Trask, G., and Jerrett, R. III. 1982. *Impacts From the Youth Incentive Entitlement Pilot Projects: Participation Work and Schooling Over the Full Program Period*. New York, NY: Manpower Research Development Corporation.

Frey, H.E. 1999. *Employment and Training for Court-Involved Youth: An Overview*. Fact Sheet. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Gemignani, R.J. 1994. *Juvenile Correctional Education: A Time for Change*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Gottfredson, M., and Hirschi, T. 1990. *A General Theory of Crime*. Palo Alto, CA: Stanford University Press.

Hershey, A.M., Silverberg, M.K., Haimson, J., Hudis, P., and Jackson, R. 1999. *Expanding Options for Students: Report to Congress on the National Evaluation of School-to-Work Implementation*. Executive Summary. Princeton, NJ: Mathematica Policy Research, Inc.

Ingersoll, S., and LeBoeuf, D. 1997. *Reaching Out to Youth Out of the Education Mainstream*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Levesque, K., Lauen, D., Teitelbaum, P., Alt, M., and Librare, S. 2000. *Vocational Education in the United States: Toward the Year 2000*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics.

Mallar, C., Kerachsky, S., Thornton, C., and Long, D. 1982. *Evaluation of the Economic Impact of the Job Corps Program, Third Follow-Up Report*. Princeton, NJ: Mathematica Policy Research, Inc.

Maynard, R. 1980. *The Impact of Supported Work on Young High School Dropouts*. Princeton, NJ: Mathematica Policy Research, Inc.

Maynard, R., Cavin, E., and Schore, J. 1982. *Post-Program Impacts of Supported Work on Young High School Dropouts: Results from a Follow-Up Survey*. Princeton, NJ: Mathematica Policy Research, Inc.

National Center for Education Statistics. 1999. *Digest of Education Statistics, Table 108*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics.

National Center for Education Statistics. 2000. *Employment of Young Adults, by Educational Attainment*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics.

Needels, K., Dynarski, M., and Corson, W. 1998. *Helping Young People in High Poverty Communities: Lessons From Youth Fair Chance*. Princeton, NJ: Mathematica Policy Research, Inc.

Ploeger, M. 1997. Youth employment and delinquency: Reconsidering a problematic relationship. *Criminology* 35(4):659–675.

Schochet, P.Z., Burghardt, J., and Glazerman, S. 2000. *National Job Corps Study: The Short-Term Impacts of Job Corps on Participants' Employment and Related Outcomes*. Princeton, NJ: Mathematica Policy Research, Inc.

Search Institute. 2000. Forty Developmental Assets. Retrieved August 1, 2000, from the Web: www.search-institute.org/assets/forty.htm.

Shapiro, J.Z., Gaston, S.N., Hebert, J.C., and Guillot, D.J. 1986. *LSYOU (Louisiana State Youth Opportunities Unlimited) Project Evaluation*. Baton Rouge, LA: Louisiana State University, College of Education.

Sherman, L.W., Gottfredson, D., MacKenzie, D., Eck, J., Reuter, P., and Bushway, S., eds. 1997. *Preventing Crime: What Works, What Doesn't, What's Promising*. A Report to the United States Congress. College Park, MD: University of Maryland, Department of Criminology and Criminal Justice.

Stasz, C. 1999. *Assessing the Quality of Vocational Education in High Schools*. Independent Advisory Panel Meeting, National Assessment of Vocational Education. Santa Monica, CA: The RAND Corporation. www.ed.gov/rschstat/eval/sectech/nave/stasz.doc.

Stephens, R.D., and Arnette, J.L. 2000. From the Courthouse to the Schoolhouse: Making Successful Transitions. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Uggen, C. 1994. Innovators, retreatists, and the conformist alternative: A job quality model of work and crime. Unpublished paper. Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin.

U.S. Department of Education, Office of Vocational and Adult Education. 2000a. *Carl D. Perkins Vocational and Technical Education Act of 1998*. Summary. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education. www.ed.gov/offices/OVAE/CTE/perkins.html.

U.S. Department of Labor. 2000. *Report on the Youth Labor Force*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics.

U.S. Department of Labor. n.d.(a). *Fact Sheet—Job Corps*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Labor, Employment and Training Administration. www.doleta.gov/programs/factsht/jobcorps.htm.

U.S. Department of Labor. n.d.(b). *Fact Sheet—Job Training Partnership Act*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Labor, Employment and Training Administration.

Walker, G., and Vilella-Velez, F. 1992. *Anatomy of a Demonstration: SETP From Pilot Through Replication and Postprogram Impacts*. Philadelphia, PA: Public/Private Ventures.

Peer: Gang Prevention

Baccaglini, W.F. 1993. *Project Youth Gang-Drug Prevention: A Statewide Research Study*. Rensselear, NY: New York State Division of Youth.

Boys & Girls Clubs of Greater Fort Worth. 1996. *Comin' Up Gang Intervention Program*. Project Report. Fort Worth, TX: Boys & Girls Clubs of Greater Fort Worth.

Braga, A.A., and Kennedy, D.M. 2002. Reducing gang violence in Boston. In *Responding to Gangs: Evaluation and Research*, edited by W.L. Reed and S.H. Decker. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, National Institute of Justice.

Bureau of Justice Assistance. 1997. *Improving the Nation's Criminal Justice System: Findings and Results From State and Local Program Evaluations*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Bureau of Justice Assistance.

Bursik, R.J., and Grasmick, H.G. 1993. *Neighborhoods and Crime: The Dimension of Effective Community Control*. New York, NY: Lexington Books.

Catalano, R.F., and Hawkins, J.D. 1995. *Risk Focused Prevention: Using the Social Development Strategy*. Seattle, WA: Developmental Research and Programs, Inc.

Cohen, M., Williams, K., Bekelman, A., and Crosse, S. 1994. *National Evaluation of the Youth Gang Drug Prevention Program.* Final Report. Bethesda, MD: DSG, Inc.

Curry, G.D. 1996. National youth gang surveys: A review of methods and findings. Unpublished paper. Tallahassee, FL: National Youth Gang Center.

Curry, G.D., Ball, R.A., and Decker, S.H. 1996a. Estimating the national scope of gang crime from law enforcement data. In *Gangs in America*, 2d ed., edited by C.R. Huff. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Curry, G.D., Ball, R.A., and Decker, S.H. 1996b. *Estimating the National Scope of Gang Crime From Law Enforcement Data*. Research in Brief. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, National Institute of Justice.

Curry, G.D., and Decker, S.H. 1998. *Confronting Gangs: Crime and the Community*. Los Angeles, CA: Roxbury.

Curry, G.D., and Spergel, I.A. 1988. Gang homicide, delinquency, and community. *Criminology* 26:381–405.

Decker, S.H. 2002. A decade of gang research: Findings of the National Institute of Justice gang portfolio. In *Responding to Gangs: Evaluation and Research*, edited by W.L. Reed and S.H. Decker. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, National Institute of Justice.

Decker, S.H., and Curry, G.D. 1999. Gang prevention and intervention with African American males. In *Working with African American Males: A Guide to Practice*, edited by L.E. Davis. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc..

Decker, S.H., and Van Winkle, B. 1996. *Life in the Gang: Family, Friends, and Violence*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.

Dryfoos, J.G. 1990. *Adolescents at Risk: Prevalence and Prevention*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

Egley, A., and Arjunan, M. 2002. *Highlights of the 2000 National Youth Gang Survey*. Fact Sheet. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Esbensen, F., and Huizinga, D. 1993. Gangs, drugs, and delinquency in a survey of urban youth. *Criminology* 31:565–589.

Esbensen, F., and Osgood, D. 1999. Gang resistence education and training (GREAT): Results from the national evaluation. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency* 36(2):194–225.

Esbensen, F., Peterson, D., Freng, A., and Taylor, T. 2002. Initiation of drug use, drug sales, and violent offending among a sample of gang and nongang youth. In *Gangs in America*, 3d ed., edited by C.R. Huff. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Feyerherm, W., Pope, C., and Lovell, R. 1992. *Youth Gang Prevention and Early Intervention Programs*. Final Research Report, Executive Summary. Portland, OR: Portland State University.

Grizenko, N., and Fisher, C. 1992. Review of studies of risk and protective factors for psychopathology in children. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry* 37:711–721.

Hawkins, J.D., and Catalano, R.F. 1992. *Communities That Care*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Hill, K.G., Hawkins, J.D., Catalano, R.F., Kosterman, R., Abbott, R., and Edwards, T. 1996. The longitudinal dynamics of gang membership and problem behavior: A replication and extension of the Denver and Rochester gang studies in Seattle. Unpublished paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Society of Criminology, Chicago, IL.

Howell, J.C. 1994. *Gangs*. Fact Sheet. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Howell, J.C., ed. 1995. *Guide for Implementing the Comprehensive Strategy for Serious, Violent, and Chronic Juvenile Offenders.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Howell, J.C. 1999. *The Youth Gangs, Drugs, and Violence Connection*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Huff, C.R., ed. 1990. Gangs in America. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Huff, C.R. 1993. Gangs in the United States. In *The Gang Intervention Handbook*, edited by A.P. Goldstein and C.R. Huff. Champaign, IL: Research Press.

Huff, C.R. 1996. The criminal behavior of gang members and nongang, at-risk youth. In *Gangs in America*, edited by C.R. Huff. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Huff, C.R. 1998. *Comparing the Criminal Behavior of Youth Gangs and At-Risk Youths*. Research in Brief. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, National Institute of Justice.

Huizinga, D. 1997. The volume of crime by gang and nongang members. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Society of Criminology, San Diego, CA.

Humphrey, K.M., and Baker, P.R. 1994. The GREAT program: Gang resistance education and training. *FBI Law Enforcement Bulletin* (September):1–4.

Jankowski, M. 1991. *Islands in the Street: Gangs and American Urban Society*. Berkeley, CA: University Press.

Kennedy, D.M., Piehl, A.M., and Braga, A.A. 1996. Youth violence in Boston: Gun markets, serious youth offenders, and a use-reduction strategy. *Law and Contemporary Problems* 59(1):147–196.

Klein, M. 1995. *The American Street Gang: Its Nature, Prevalence, and Control.* New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

Miller, W.B. 1992. *Crime by Youth Gangs and Groups in the United States*. Report. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Moore, J.P., and Cook, I.L. 1999. *Highlights of the 1998 National Youth Gang Survey*. Fact Sheet. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Palumbo, D.J., and Ferguson, J.L. 1995. Evaluating gang resistance education and training (GREAT): Is the impact the same as that of drug abuse resistance education (DARE)? *Evaluation Review: A Journal of Applied Social Research* 19:597–619.

Pennell, S., Evans, E., Melton, R., and Hinson, S. 1994. *Down for the Set: Describing and Defining Gangs in San Diego*. San Diego, CA: Association of Governments, Criminal Justice Research Division.

Reed, W., and Decker, S. 2002. *Responding to Gangs: Evaluation and Research*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, National Institute of Justice.

Sherman, L.W., Gottfredson, D.C., MacKenzie, D.L., Eck, J., Reuter, P., and Bushway, S.D. 1997. *Preventing Crime: What Works, What Doesn't, What's Promising.* Research in Brief. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, National Institute of Justice.

Spergel, I.A. 1990. Youth gangs: Continuity and change. In *Crime and Justice: A Review of Research*, vol. 12, edited by M. Tonry and N. Morris. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Spergel, I.A. 1995. The Youth Gang Problem. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

Spergel, I.A., and Alexander, A. 1991. *A School-Based Model*. Draft report prepared for the National Youth Gang Suppression and Intervention Program by the University of Chicago, School of Social Service Administration, Chicago, IL.

Spergel, I.A., Chance, R., Ehrensaft, K., Regulus, T., Kane, C., Laseter, R., Alexander, A., and Oh, S. 1994. *Gang Suppression and Intervention: Community Models*. Research Summary. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Spergel, I.A., and Curry, G.D. 1990. Strategies and perceived agency effectiveness in dealing with the youth gang problem. In *Gangs in America*, edited by C.R. Huff. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Spergel, I.A., and Grossman, S.F. 1997. The Little Village project: A community approach to the gang problem. *Social Work* 42:456–470.

Thompson, D.W., and Jason, L.A. 1988. Street gangs and preventive interventions. *Criminal Justice and Behavior* 15:323–333.

Thornberry, T. 1998. Membership in youth gangs and involvement in serious and violent offending. In *Serious and Violent Offenders: Risk Factors and Successful Interventions*, edited by R. Loeber and D.P. Farrington. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Thornberry, T.P., and Burch, J.H. 1997. *Gang Members and Delinquent Behavior*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Thornberry, T.P., Krohn, M.D., Lizotte, A.J., and Chard-Wierschem, D. 1993. The role of juvenile gangs in facilitating delinquent behavior. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency* 30:55–87.

Wilson, W.J. 1987. *The Truly Disadvantaged: The Inner City, the Underclass, and Public Policy*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

School: Academic Skills Enhancement

American Psychiatric Association. 1994. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition, DSM–IV.* Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.

Catalano, R.F., Loeber, R., and McKinney, K.C. 1999. *School and Community Interventions To Prevent Serious and Violent Offending*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Cloward, R., and Ohlin, L.E. 1960. *Delinquency and Opportunity: A Theory of Delinquent Gangs*. Glencoe, IL: Free Press.

Cox, S. 1999. An assessment of an alternative education program for at-risk delinquent youth. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency* 36(3):323–336.

Cox, S., Davison, W., and Bynum, T. 1995. A meta-analytic assessment of delinquency-related outcomes of alternative education programs. *Crime and Delinquency* 41(2):219–234.

Elliott, D., Huizinga, D., and Ageton, S. 1985. *Explaining Delinquency and Drug Use*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Elliott, D., and Voss, H. 1974. *Delinquency and Dropout*. Lexington, MA: Lexington Books.

Gottfredson, G.D. 1988. *American Education—American Delinquency*. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University, Center for Social Organization of Schools.

Hawkins, J.D., Herrenkohl, T.I., Farrington, D.P., Brewer, D., Catalano, R.F., Harachi, T.W., and Cothern, L. 2000. *Predictors of Youth Violence*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Hawkins, J.D., and Lam, T. 1987. Teacher practices, social development, and delinquency. In *Prevention of Delinquent Behavior*, edited by J.D. Burchard and S.N. Burchard. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Henggeler, S.W. 1989. *Delinquency in Adolescence*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Hirschi, T. 1969. Causes of Delinquency. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.

Ingersoll, S., and LeBoeuf, D. 1997. *Reaching Out to Youth Out of the Education Mainstream*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Johnson, M.K, Crosnoe, R., and Elder, G.H. 2001. Students' attachment and academic engagement: The role of race and ethnicity. *Sociology of Education* 74(4):318–340.

Jurich, S., and Estes, S. 2000. Raising Academic Achievement for America's Youth: A Study of 20 Successful Programs. Washington, DC: American Youth Policy Forum.

Kelley, B.T., Loeber, R., Keenan, K., and DeLamatre, M. 1997. *Developmental Pathways in Boys' Disruptive and Delinquent Behavior*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Kemple, J., and Snipes, J. 2000. *Career Academies: Impacts on Students' Engagement and Performance in High School.* San Francisco, CA: Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.

Maguin, E., Hawkins, J.D., Catalano, R.F., Hill, K., Abbott, R., and Herrenkohl, T.I. 1995. Risk factors measured at three ages for violence at age 17–18. Paper presented at the American Society for Criminology, Boston, MA.

Maguin, E., and Loeber, R. 1996. Academic performance and delinquency. In *A Review of Research*, Crime and Justice Series, edited by Michael Tonry. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago.

Myers, D., and Schirm, A. 1997. *The Short-Term Impact of Upward Bound: An Interim Report.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, Planning and Evaluation Service.

Raywid, M. 1983. Alternative schools as a model for public education. *Theory Into Practice* 22:190–197.

Schinke, S., Cole, K., and Poulin, S.R. 2000. Enhancing the educational achievement of at-risk youth. *Prevention Science* 1(1):51–60.

Voelkl, K., Welste, J.W., and Wieczorek, W.F. 1999. Schooling and delinquency among white and African American adolescents. *Urban Education* 34(1):69–88.

School: Behavior Management

Bandura, A. 1977. Social Learning Theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, Inc.

Educational Resources Information Center. 2000. *The ERIC Review—School Safety: A Collaborative Effort* 7(1). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.

Gottfredson, D. 1996. School-based crime prevention. In *Preventing Crime: What Works, What Doesn't, What's Promising*, edited by L.W. Sherman, D. Gottfredson, D. MacKenzie, J. Eck, P. Reuter, and S. Bushway. A Report to the United States Congress. College Park, MD: University of Maryland, Department of Criminology and Criminal Justice.

Howell, J.C., ed. 1995. *Guide for Implementing the Comprehensive Strategy for Serious, Violent, and Chronic Juvenile Offenders.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Krisberg, B., Neuenfeldt, D., Wiebush, R., and Rodriguez, O. 1994. *Juvenile Intensive Supervision: Planning Guide*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

LeBoeuf, D., and Delany-Shabazz, R.V. 1997. *Conflict Resolution*. Fact Sheet. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Stovell, K., ed. 1999. *Prevention Programs for Youth: A Guide to Outcomes Evaluation, Successful Funding.* Providence, RI: Manisses Communications Group.

School: Prevention Curricula

Araki, C.T., Takeshita, C., and Kadomoto, L. 1989. Research Results and Final Report for the Dispute Management in the Schools Project. Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii, Manoa, Program on Conflict Resolution.

Catalano, R.F., Loeber, R., and McKinney, K.C. 1999. *School and Community Interventions To Prevent Serious and Violent Offending*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Center for Substance Abuse Prevention. 1999. *Understanding Substance Abuse Prevention: Toward the 21st Century: A Primer on Effective Programs*. Retrieved August 2000 from the Web: www.modelprograms.samhsa.gov/monograph/index.cfm.

Central Regional Center for the Application of Prevention Technologies. 2000. *Across Ages*. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Center for Substance Abuse Prevention.

Dryfoos, J.G. 1990. *Adolescents at Risk: Prevalence and Prevention*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

Educational Resources Information Center. 2000. *The ERIC Review—School Safety: A Collaborative Effort* 7(1). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.

Elliott, D.S., ed. 1998. *Blueprints for Violence Prevention: Quantum Opportunities Program.* Boulder, CO: University of Colorado, Center for the Study and Prevention of Violence.

Gottfredson, D. 1996. School-based crime prevention. In *Preventing Crime: What Works, What Doesn't, What's Promising*, edited by L.W. Sherman, D. Gottfredson, D. MacKenzie, J. Eck, P. Reuter, and S. Bushway. A Report to the United States Congress. College Park, MD: University of Maryland, Department of Criminology and Criminal Justice.

Gottfredson, D., and Gottfredson, G. 1985. Youth employment, crime, and schooling: A longitudinal study of a national sample. *Developmental Psychology* 21:419–432.

Gregg, S. 1995. *Preventing Antisocial Behavior in At-Risk Students*. A Policy Brief by Appalachia Educational Laboratory. www.btinternet.com/~black.ice/addnet/behaviour.html.

Hawkins, J.D., and Catalano, R.F. 1992. *Communities That Care*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Howell, J.C., ed. 1995. *Guide for Implementing the Comprehensive Strategy for Serious, Violent, and Chronic Juvenile Offenders.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Kenney, D.J., and Watson, S. 1999. *Crime in the Schools: Reducing Conflict With Student Problem Solving*. Research in Brief. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, National Institute of Justice.

LeBoeuf, D., and Delany-Shabazz, R.V. 1997. *Conflict Resolution*. Fact Sheet. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Maguin, E., and Loeber, R. 1996. Academic performance and delinquency. In *Crime and Justice: A Review of Research*, vol. 20, edited by M. Tonry. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

National Institute on Drug Abuse. *NIDA Prevention Brochure: Examples of Research-Based Drug Abuse Prevention Programs*. Retrieved January 13, 2004, from the Web: 165.112.78.61/Prevention/examples.html.

National Parent's Resource Institute for Drug Education. 1998. *Summary of Results—Students' Survey*. Atlanta, GA: Pride, Inc.

North Central Regional Educational Laboratory. *Research and Evaluation Studies*. Retrieved July 13, 2000, from the Web: www.ncrel.org/sdrs/areas/issues/envrnmnt/drugfree/sa1lk3.htm.

North Central Regional Educational Laboratory, Midwest Regional Center for Drug-Free Schools and Communities. 1994. Study focuses on successful prevention programs. *Midwest Forum* 4(1). www.ncrel.org/sdrs/areas/issues/envrnmnt/drugfree/4-1study.htm.

Northeast Center for the Application of Prevention Technologies. 1999. *School-Based Prevention: Critical Components*. Newton, MA: Education Development Center, Inc.

O'Donnell, J., Hawkins, J.D., Catalano, R.F., Abbot, R.D., and Day, E. 1995. Preventing school failure, drug use, and delinquency among low-income children: Long-term intervention in elementary schools. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry* 65:87–100.

Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. 1993. *Strengthening America's Families: Promising Parenting Strategies for Delinquency Prevention*. U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Search Institute. 2000. *Forty Developmental Assets*. Retrieved August 1, 2000, from the Web: www.search-institute.org/assets/forty.htm.

Sherman, L.W., Gottfredson, D., MacKenzie, D., Eck, J., Reuter, P., and Bushway, S., eds. 1997. *Preventing Crime: What Works, What Doesn't, What's Promising*. A Report to the United States Congress. College Park, MD: University of Maryland, Department of Criminology and Criminal Justice.

Stovell, K., ed. 1999. *Prevention Programs for Youth: A Guide to Outcomes Evaluation, Successful Funding.* Providence, RI: Manisses Communications Group.

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, National Mental Health Information Center, Center for Mental Health Services. 1999. *Examples of Exemplary/Promising Programs*. www.mentalhealth.org/schoolviolence/Irenelis.htm.

Tinzmann, M.B., and Hixson, J. 1992. *What Does Research Say About Prevention?* Oak Brook, IL: North Central Regional Educational Laboratory. Retrieved July 13, 2000, from the Web: www.ncrel.org/sdrs/areas/stw_esys/6prevntn.htm.

U.S. Department of Education. 1998. *Tools for Schools: School Reform Models Supported by the National Institute on At-Risk Students*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, Office of Educational Research and Improvement.

U.S. Department of Education and U.S. Department of Justice. 1999. *Annual Report on School Safety 1998*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.

Weiss, F.L., and Nicholson, H.J. 1998. Friendly PEERsuasion against substance use: The Girls Incorporated model and evaluation. In *Substance Abuse Prevention in Multicultural Communities*, edited by J. Valentine, J. DeJong, and N. Kennedy. New York, NY: Haworth Press.

Western Regional Center for the Application of Prevention Technologies. 1999. *Best Practices and Promising Practices: Guide to Building a Successful Prevention Program*, 2d ed. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Center for Substance Abuse Prevention.

Winfield, L.F. 1994. *Developing Resilience in Urban Youth*. Oak Brook, IL: North Central Regional Educational Laboratory Urban Education Program.

School: School/Classroom Environment

Catalano, R.F., Loeber, R., and McKinney, K.C. 1999. *School and Community Interventions To Prevent Serious and Violent Offending*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Gottfredson, D. 1996. School-based crime prevention. In *Preventing Crime: What Works, What Doesn't, What's Promising*, edited by L.W. Sherman, D. Gottfredson, D. MacKenzie, J. Eck, P. Reuter, and S. Bushway. A Report to the United States Congress. College Park, MD: University of Maryland, Department of Criminology and Criminal Justice.

Gottfredson, D.C., and Gottfredson, G.D. 1985. Youth employment, crime, and schooling: A longitudinal study of a national sample. In *Developmental Psychology* 21:419–432.

Howell, J.C., ed. 1995. *Guide for Implementing the Comprehensive Strategy for Serious, Violent, and Chronic Juvenile Offenders.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

North Central Regional Educational Laboratory, Midwest Regional Center for Drug-Free Schools and Communities. 1994. Study focuses on successful prevention programs. *Midwest Forum* 4(1). www.ncrel.org/sdrs/areas/issues/envrnmnt/drugfree/4-1study.htm.

Northeast Center for the Application of Prevention Technologies. 1999. *School-Based Prevention: Critical Components*. Newton, MA: Education Development Center, Inc.

Sherman, L.W., Gottfredson, D., MacKenzie, D., Eck, J., Reuter, P., and Bushway, S., eds. 1997. *Preventing Crime: What Works, What Doesn't, What's Promising*. A Report to the United States Congress. College Park, MD: University of Maryland, Department of Criminology and Criminal Justice.

U.S. Department of Education. 1998. *Tools for Schools: School Reform Models Supported by the National Institute on At-Risk Students*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, Office of Educational Research and Improvement.

Voelkl, K.E., and Frone, M.R. 2000. Predictors of substance use at school among high school students. *Journal of Educational Psychology* 92:583–592.

School: Truancy Prevention

Baker, M.L., Sigmon, J.N., and Nugent, M.E. 2001. *Truancy Reduction: Keeping Students in School.* Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Bell, A.J., Rosen, L.A., and Dynlacht, D. 1994. Truancy intervention. *The Journal of Research and Development in Education* 57(3):203–211.

Cantelon, S., and LeBoeuf, D. 1997. *Keeping Young People in School: Community Programs That Work*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Catalano, F.R., Arthur, M.W., Hawkins, J.D., Berglund, L., and Olson, J.J. 1998. Comprehensive community- and school-based interventions to prevent antisocial behavior. In *Serious and Violent Juvenile Offenders: Risk Factors and Successful Interventions*, edited by R. Loeber and D. Farrington. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

DeKalb, J. 1999. *Student Truancy*. ERIC Digest. Eugene, OR: ERIC Clearinghouse on Educational Management.

Dryfoos, J. 1990. *Adolescents at Risk: Prevalence and Prevention*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

ERIC Clearinghouse on Urban Education. 1997. *Urban Policies and Programs To Reduce Truancy*. ERIC Digest. New York, NY: ERIC Clearinghouse on Urban Education.

Garry, E.M. 1996. *Truancy: First Step to a Lifetime of Problems*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Howell, J.C., ed. 1995. *Guide for Implementing the Comprehensive Strategy for Serious, Violent, and Chronic Juvenile Offenders.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Huizinga, D., Loeber, R., and Thornberry, T. 1995. *Urban Delinquency and Substance Abuse: Initial Findings*. Summary. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Kelley, B.T., Loeber, R., Keenan, K., and DeLamatre, M. 1997. *Developmental Pathways in Boys' Disruptive and Delinquent Behavior*. Bulletin. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Loeber, R., and Farrington, D. 2000. Young children who commit crime: Epidemiology, developmental origins, risk factors, early interventions, and policy implications. *Development and Psychopathology* 12(4):737–762.

McMillen, M., Kaufman, P., Germino-Huasken, E., and Bradby, D. 1993. *Dropout Rates in the United States: 1992*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics.

Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. 1998. *Comprehensive Strategy Curriculum: Promising Approaches for Graduated Sanctions*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.

Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. 1999. West Contra Costa Unified School District Truancy Enforcement Program—Richmond, CA, Profile No. 57. In *Promising Strategies To Reduce Gun Violence*. Report. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

Reglin, G. 1997. Mentoring and Tutoring Help (MATH) program fights truancy. *The Clearing House* 70(6):319–324.

Robins, L.N., and Ratcliff, K.S. 1978. *Long-Range Outcomes Associated With School Truancy*. Washington, DC: Public Health Service.

Rohrman, D. 1993. Combating truancy in our schools: A community effort. *National Association of Secondary School Principals Bulletin* 76(549):40–45.

Snyder, H.N., and Sickmund, M. 1995. *Juvenile Offenders and Victims: A National Report*. Report. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

University of Colorado at Boulder. 1998. *Blueprints for Violence Prevention*. Boulder, CO: Institute of Behavioral Science.

- U.S. Department of Education and U.S. Department of Justice. 1996. *Manual To Combat Truancy*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education and U.S. Department of Justice.
- U.S. Department of Justice. 1999. Justice Department program focuses on reducing truancy. *Office of Justice Programs News*, May 12.